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WHO WE ARE

HISTORY OF CCF

VISION

PURPOSE

Citizens’ Constitutional Forum Limited (CCF) is a nongovernmental
organisation based in Suva with more than 20 years experience 
in community education and advocacy on Fiji’s Constitution, 
democracy,human rights and multiculturalism.

CCF also works with other local and international non-government 
organisations to share experiences and lessons learned on peace building, 
participatory democracy, human rights and social justice.

CCF is not aligned with any political party.

The seeds of CCF were sown in the aftermath of Fiji’s first military coup 
d’etat in may 1987, which exposed deep divisions in Fijian society.

A group of concerned citizens established the “Backto Early May
Movement” and called for re-instatementof the pre-coup Government. 
Several members ofthe same group were instrumental in organizing an
informal forum for discussion of constitutional issues.

Participants in this forum came from academia, the public service, faith-
based organisations, trade unions and professional associations, as well as 
other civil society groups.

Over a series of meetings in 1991, they agreed to adopt the name 
“Citizens Constitutional Forum.”

To empower the people of Fiji to participate in and demand good 
governance, democracy, human rights and multiculturalism.

Citizens’ Constitutional Forum (CCF)
23 Denison Road
P.O.Box 12350, Suva, Fiji.
Ph: (679) 3308 379
Fax: (679) 3308 380
Website: www.ccf.org.fj
Email: ccf@kidanet.net.fj

Citizens’ Constitutional Forum
Facebook:

Twitter: @ccf_fiji

To build a nation in which Fiji’s people live together in equality, justice 
and peace, respecting the rule of  law, under a constitution that guarantees 
democracy and human rights.
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Chief Executive Officer’s Report

CCF CEO Louchrisha Hussain
Greetings from the Citizens’ Constitutional Forum 
(CCF).
This past year has been quite a journey for CCF as we 
continued to strengthen our advocacy and education 
efforts through supported activities that help us work 
towards achieving our organisation mission, vision 
and objectives. We have experienced a number of 
progressive milestones and learnings through the year. 
We appreciate the continued support from our team, 
partners and members of the organisation. In saying 
this, we happily present you our annual report for the 
year January – December 2019.

Key highlights of the year include:

CCF begun the year making an official written and oral 
submission concerning the Code of Conduct Bill No. 
33 to the Parliamentary Standing Committee on Justice, 
Law and Human Rights. CCF clearly articulated four 
(4) human rights related recommendations calling on 
the State to consider. Through the year we were able 
to call for government to practice good governance, 
accountability, transparency and respect for human 
rights through avenues of delivering parliamentary 
submissions as well as press statements. 

Our community education team successfully worked in 
collaboration with local provincial officials to conduct

advocacy workshops on the Universal Declaration of 
Human Rights (UDHR), Fiji’s Bill of Rights in the 2013 
Fiji 
Constitution, human rights based approach to 
development, good governance, leadership and 
multiculturalism.

In 2019 alone, our community education team covered 
Sigatoka, Nadi, Lautoka, Ba, Ovalau, Koro, Kadavu, 
Taveuni, Bua and Rotuma. From this coverage, a total 
of thirty four (34) community development plans were 
drafted that incorporated the prioritization of needs 
and development by respective communities. The 
prioritisation of needs and development was achieved 
through an inclusive consultative manner, followed by 
finalized plans which were then officially presented for 
endorsement at various governance levels.

To commemorate and honour International Day for 
the Elimination of Racial Discrimination (ICERD day), 
CCF organized a four (4) kilometre walk against Racism 
to raise awareness and also in remembrance of activists 
at the frontline of the fight against racism. This event 
welcomed human rights activists and defenders from 
around the region as it coincided with a regional workshop 
organized by our international partners Diplomacy 
Training Programme (DTP). A two (2) minute moment 
of silence was also observed at the beginning of the event 
for those that lost their lives in the senseless massacre on 
the two (2) mosques in Christchurch, New Zealand.

Within the first half of the year, CCF’s community 
education team implemented our national budget 
analysis workshops. These workshops are opportunities 
to educate communities on the national budget process 
and the importance of citizens to be aware of this process 
and to engage. These communities are a part of inclusive 
processes and a series of workshops that support the 
production of written budget submissions that reflect 
their respective community development needs and 
priorities that are officially submitted to Fiji’s national 
budget process prior to the April deadline. With support 
from our core funding donors on CCF’s budget process 
mandate, we managed to reach communities that 
were geographically challenging to access; for instance 
Rotuma this year.
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CCF acting chief executive officer also was given the 
opportunity to attend a closed door meeting of civil 
society organisations and the United Nations Deputy 
High Commisssioner for Human Rights Ms. Kate 
Gilmore.

CCF addressed the area of freedom of assembly and 
association and drew on lived experiences of Fiji 
civil society worganisations and activists. CCF also 
made four (4) recommendations specific to address 
restrictions on the right of freedom of assembly and 
association here in Fiji.

With the support of Misereor, CCF organized a series 
of virtual youth group chats that featured youth 
activists speaking on issues that they work to address 
daily. The virtual methodology was a relatively new 
platform for CCF to manage, however with support of 
partner organisations and timely feedback we were able 
to organize a number of virtual panels that provided 
a space for youth to speak on burning issues. Viewers 
were also able to engage in question and answer 
sessions with the panel following their deliberations. 
CCF’s youth group chats managed quite a remarkable 
online audience. 

CCF’s community education team also implemented 
capacity building trainings for Senior Assistant Roko Tui 
(SART) and Assistant Roko Tui (ART) representatives 
through sessions that addressed the human rights 
based approach to development, integrated village 
development plans and inclusive processes. This 
support strengthens our relationship with the Itaukei 
Affairs Board (ITAB) and sets precedence for future 
collaborative opportunities that will benefit our 
local communities in the area of human rights and 
development priorities. 

A big part of staff support is the on-going capacity 
building opportunities that is supported by the 
organisation. In July, CCF supported our community 
education team that attended the Deliberative 
Democracy Institute (DDI) hosted by our international 
partner Kettering Foundation, held in Dayton, Ohio. 
DDI is a learning exchange in which people from diverse 
nations explore a range of ideas that can improve public 
life at the community level and beyond encouraging 
citizen participation and advancing knowledge of 
democratic practices. 

Additionally, CCF supported two (2) research staff that 
attended the 29th annual Human rights and people’s 
diplomacy training for human rights defenders from the 
Asia – Pacific Region, held in Timor-Leste. The annual, 
comprehensive human rights and advocacy training 
course is the longest established human rights training 
program held in the region. The training builds knowledge 
of international human rights standards and the United 
Nations system and skills in strategic advocacy. 

The intensive sessions are based on human rights and  
development, advocacy and media skills.

Our finance team duo was given the opportunity to 
attend financial management training for development 
professionals, held in Bangkok, Thailand. This training 
exposed them to an insight into international best practice 
models, policies, systems of financial management and 
understanding how the finance dimension exists as a 
pillar to support mandates of organisations like CCF. 
Later on in the year, CCF supported another staff member 
who was invited to attend the 2019 Dublin Platform for 
Human Rights Defenders at Risk, held in Dublin, Ireland. 
The platform provided a truly unique opportunity for a 
hundred human rights defenders from every corner of 
the globe, to come together to share experiences, learn 
from one another, discuss relevant issues and engage 
with over a hundred decision makers from national 
and international organisations and intergovernmental 
bodies.

A huge part of our work at CCF is working with local 
partners to demand for government accountability and 
transparency. Working with local partners helps further 
the work and more importantly our vision – to build a 
nation in which Fiji’s people live together in equality, 
justice and peace, respecting the rule of law, under a 
Constitution that guarantees democracy and human 
rights. CCF is an active member of the NGO coalition 
for human rights (NGOCHR). Through the year, the 
coalition continued its efforts of calling for human rights 
to be respected by all and issued statements to hold 
government and independent bodies and commissions 
accountable. In August, CCF was a part of an NGOCHR 
organized event as well as issuing public statements 
calling on Pacific Island leaders attending their forum 
leaders meeting for immediate intervention by the United 
Nations and a visit by the Human Rights Commissioner 
to West Papua. CCF along with the NGOCHR supports 
the on – going cause to Free West Papua and continues 



6
CCF ANNUAL REPORT 2019

calling on the Fiji government to immediately take action and respond accordingly to the continuously deteriorating 
human rights situation in West Papua.

As part of CCFs continued advocacy efforts on the 2013 Constitution of the Republic of Fiji, CCF organized a 
Constitution Day quiz. 

This interactive event coincided with Fiji’s Constitution Day on September 7th. Last year we held the event in Suva 
and took on the opportunity to take the event to the Western area this year. The space organized takes the form 
of a competition with a moderator asking questions based on contents of the Constitution. Questions covered the 
preamble, Bill of Rights, independent commissions, and freedom of speech, expression and publication, separation 
of powers and appointment of judges.

In November CCF convened our annual event, the national public forum which has been commonly implement-
ed in the central area – Suva only. This year, we managed to implement a two – part series of the event in Suva 
and Labasa for the very first time. The national public Forum was a panel discussion on the theme “thematic 
perspectives on the current system of democracy in Fiji.” The topics of discussion at both forums included; ac-
cessibility to information, accessibility and quality delivery of public services and constructive engagements with 
elected representatives in Parliament. These spaces were identified as crucial to opening up spaces for dialogues 
and discussions on matters of public and national interest.

December 2019 marked the Annual Human Rights day celebration. This year’s celebration of human rights day 
was significant, as the NGOCHR hosted its first ever online rally to commemorate the day. This was done so in 
light of the measles outbreak declared by Fiji in November. The Ministry of Health and Medical Services released 
a series of public advisory notices advising the general public to refrain from organizing, holding or attending 
large gatherings of people and avoid non-essential travel to areas affected by the measles outbreak.  

Given the advisories, the NGOCHR organized an online rally where each organisation’s representatives were 
given live slots to share a human rights message. The online rally was successful and caught the attention of many 
who interacted and continued sharing links of the rally on their social media pages that further gained publicity 
and awareness on human rights.

As the CCF chief executive officer I am proud of the commitment made and shown by my supportive team. De-
spite the year of challenges we’ve faced, we put our heads, hands and hearts together and worked through them 
with persistence. 

Through these challenging moments, came opportunities of valuable learning. Thank you all for your passion 
and commitment to the cause. I wish to also thank the governance board that has provided support and strategic 
guidance through the year. We look forward to the New Year with positivity, fresh energy and commitment to 
fulfilling our mandate. 
 

In solidarity,

Louchrisha Hussain

Chief Executive Officer
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Board of Director’s Report

Tessa Mackenzie

Tessa Mackenzie

Chairperson
CCF Board of Directors

The year 2019 began for CCF with the departure of 
our chief executive officer, Mr. Bulutani Mataitawakilai 
who resigned to take up farming in Vanua Levu. CCF 
wished him well and thanked him for his service for the 
organisation.  

The board of directors called for expressions of interest in 
the position and received a good number of applications. 
A rigorous selection procedure was followed to find the 
most suitable candidate.  In July the final interviews took 
place and Ms. Louchrisha Hussain was offered a contract 
which she accepted.

Some short term professional enrichment trainings have 
been made available to several staff members during 
the year and our community education coordinator was 
offered a six month study fellowship at the Kettering 
institute in USA as part of the Deliberative Democracy 
Institute (DDI) learning exchange. 

One board member resigned and two new directors, 
one of whom was Reverend Akuila Yabaki, our former 
longstanding chief executive officer, were appointed

to the board by the members at the Annual General 
Meeting. However one director resigned almost 
immediately due to other commitments. 

I express the gratitude of the board to the staff, especially 
Louchrisha and the management team, and to all the 
staff for the excellent team spirit that has enhanced the 
work of the organisation throughout the year 2019.

88



Tessa Mackenzie

Dr. Holger Szesnat Ratu Meli Vesikula Shradha Sharma

Mereoni Chung Tara Chetty
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END POVERTY IN ALL ITS FORMS
EVERYWHERE

ENSURE ACCESS TO WATER AND 
SANITATION FOR ALL

ENSURE ACCESS TO AFFORDABLE , 
RELIABLE, SUSTAINABLE AND MODERN 
ENERGY FOR ALL

PROMOTE INCLUSIVE AND 
SUSTAINABLE ECONOMIC GROWTH, 
EMPLOYMENT AND DECENT WORK FOR 
ALL

END HUNGER. ACHIEVE FOOD 
SECURITY AND IMPROVE NUTRITION 
AND IMPROVE SUSTAINABLE 
AGRICULTURE 

ENSURE HEALTHY LIVES AND 
PROMOTE WELL-BEING FOR ALL AGES

ENSURE INCLUSIVE AND QUALITY 
EDUCATION FOR ALL AND PROMOTE 
LIFELONG LEARNING

ACHIEVE GENDER EQUALITY AND 
EMPOWER ALL WOMEN AND GIRLS

CCF ANNUAL REPORT 2019
15
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BUILD RESILIENT INFRASTRUCTURE, 
PROMOTE SUSTAINABLE 
INDUSTRIALIZATION AND FOSTER 
INNOVATION

CONSERVE AND SUSTAINABLY USE 
THE OCEANS, SEAS AND MARITIME 
RESOURCES

SUSTAINABLY MANAGE FORESTS, 
COMBAT DESERTIFICATION, HALT 
AND REVERSE DEGRADATION, HALT 
BIODIVERSITY LOSS.

PROMOTE JUST, PEACEFUL AND 
INCLUSIVE SOCIETIES.

REVITALIZE THE GLOBAL 
PARTNERSHIP FOR SUSTAINABLE 
DEVELOPMENT 

REDUCE INEQUALITY WITHIN AND 
AMONG COUNTRIES

MAKE CITIES INCLUSIVE, SAFE, 
RESILIENT AND SUSTAINABLE

ENSURE SUSTAINABLE CONSUMPTION 
AND PRODUCTION PATTERNS

TAKE URGENT ACTION TO COMBAT 
CLIMATE CHANGE AND ITS IMPACTS
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CCF Meets Parliamentary Standing Committee

CCF NAMOSI SCOPING

Members of CCF had the opportunity to present a brief to the Parliamentary Standing 
Committee on Justice, Law and Human Rights on the work and function of the organisation, 
and also share highlights of 2018 and initiatives for 2019. The presentation was followed by a 
Q & A session with honorable members of parliament, additionally with CCF putting forth 
recommendations to the standing committee. We look forward to future collaboration and 
opportunities to work together to support our communities.

The Citizens’ Constitutional Forum (CCF) 
conducted a scoping workshop with 
community leaders from the Tikina (district) 
Naqarawai and Tikina Veinuqa, with the aim 
of collating data and information related to the 
communities that have been identified by CCF 
to implement community workshops.

The objective of the scoping workshop was 
to familiarise CCF with the needs, strengths, 
social and economic priorities, and how 
CCF will use the information gathered to 
effectively implement project activities in these 
communities. 

Through funding from MISEREOR, CCF will 
be implementing community projects in these 
2 districts in the province of Namosi between 
2019 and 2020.

CCF Community Programme Facilitator, 
Sevaia Tucau, explains more in a video that was 
produced by the CCF team.

Watch the clip on the CCF website: CCF 
Namosi Scoping

Pictured with CCF staff are Hon. Mosese Bulitavo ( standing far left), Hon. Rohit Shar-
ma (seated middle), and Hon. Ratu Suliano Matanitobua (standing far right).

Link: http://news.ccf.org.fj/ccf-namosi-scoping/ 
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Code of Conduct Submission
The CCF believes that instilling guidelines, policies or 
laws regarding a standard of ethics and professionalism 
is a definite need within State institutions. These codes 
are needed to ensure that those employed for the 
purpose of serving the people of a nation (as in the Bill 
herein), do so with accountability and transparency. 
It fosters a standard of behavior and values that is 
expected from leaders (in this context) in striving for 
the best interest of the people they work for, which in 
this case are the Citizens of the Republic of Fiji.

It is our submission that in upholding Good 
Governance through the Code of Conduct, eight 
principles of this need to be applied:

- Participation
- Respect for the Rule of Law
- Consensus oriented
- Transparency 
- Accountability 
- Equity and Inclusiveness 
- Effectiveness and Efficiency
- Responsiveness

Download and read the CCF submission on the CCF 
website: Importance of Code of Conduct

Link: news.ccf.org.fj/importance-of-code-of-conduct/
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PDA Partner Analysis 

Citizens’ Constitutional Forum (CCF) joined a 2 day of annual collaboration and joint analysis 
consultation that was attended by 4 other consortium partners for the Participative for 
Democracy and Accountability (PDA) project.

The meeting was a chance for the partners to reflect on their extensive and in-depth 
contributions to creating concrete diverse and vibrant pathways for building peace in Fiji 
moving forward.

The consortium members different Programmes complimented and strengthened the PDA 
values and outreach within its different projects which were implemented by the 5 partners.
The consortium partners include the Citizens’ Constitutional Forum, Transcend Oceania, 
Dialogue Fiji, Pacific Centre for Peacebuilding, and Conciliation Resources.

For the successful result of this work we congratulate and thank our donor partner the 
European Union (EU) Vinaka vakalevu.
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Bulutani Resigns as CCF Chief Executive Officer

Mr Sara Bulutani Mataitawakilai leaves the Citizens’ Constitutional Forum (CCF) as the organisations 2nd 
Chief Executive Officer (CEO) after taking up the post in 2015.

Mataitawakilai initially joined CCF in 2009 and brought with him qualities of being a former school 
teacher to the community education team that conducted community workshops at the time.

His passion for community work grew on him which saw joining the Cakaudrove Provincial Council 
as the Senior Assistant Roko and was later promoted to Roko Tui for that local government office. 
After spending three years and six months at the provincial level, he saw that there was limited or no 
understanding of human rights and good governance in most communities.

This led him to take up the challenging role of CEO at CCF that was held by the long serving Reverend 
Aquila Yabaki.

Bulu as he was prefered to be addressed, made sure that CCF continued to work towards the rule of law, 
good governance, and human rights, especially the rights of marginalized people. 

Under his leadership, he oversaw CCF activities under each project that helped create democratic space 
to empower citizens to know their rights and hold those in power accountable through  the principles of 
good governance.

We thank Mr Mataitawakilai for his contributions to CCF and wish him all the best for the future.
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Upholding Citizens’ Constitutional Rights for Democratic 
Consolidation in Fiji - Serua

Upholding Citizens’ Constitutional Rights for Democratic 
Consolidation in Fiji - Nuku

Citizens’ Constitutional Forum through its 
Community Education team implemented its first 
Community workshop for the District of Deuba 
in the province of Serua. The workshop which 
was held at The Pearl Resort at Pacific Harbour 
on the 5th &6th of February focused on ways 
that communities can use their constitutional 
rights after the election of the new government. 
It addressed the need for greater awareness that 
democratic rights are not limited to voting, but 
embrace a wide spectrum of challenges and are 
most effective if actively pursued by communities 
and their leaders.

The participants were from the 4 villages of the 
District of Deuba and District of Batiniwai in the 
Province of Serua. The participants were males and 
females between 25years of age to 70years of age. 
There were 18 male and 8 female participants .The 
participants were the Village Headman from the 4 
villages, youth group leaders, women’s group leader, 
village development committee members and 
District Representatives. There was a good balance 

in the gender composition present in the workshop.
Also part of the workshop were representatives 
from the FICAC and the Provincial Administrator 
Serua.

The Serua Province Conservation Officer 
also prepared and presented on the Rights of 
Communities to have their resources sustainably 
developed. She had posters and pamphlets prepared 
for the participants.

Furthermore, other service providers in the Navua 
area were also present to discuss the different 
programs and projects that are available in their 
different department. Participants were advised on 
what they should do if they want to get assistance 
for example for groups such as women’s group they 
need to be registered and active in the village.

Citizens’ Constitutional Forum through its 
Community Education team implemented its 
second Community workshop for District of Nuku 
in the province of Serua. The workshop which was 
held at Coral Coast Christian Centre on the 19th & 
20th of February focused on ways that communities 
can use their constitutional rights after the election 
of the new government. It addressed the need for 
greater awareness that democratic rights are not 
limited to voting, but embrace a wide spectrum of 
challenges and are most effective if actively pursued 
by communities and their leaders.

The participants were from villages of the District 
of Nuku which is made of 6 villages but only 
participants from 4 villages were able to attend the 
workshop while the other participants from the 
other 2 villages did not attend. The participants 
were males and females between 25years of age to 
70years of age. There were 24 male and 12 female 

participants with the total of 36 participants .The 
participants were the Village Headman from the 4 
villages, youth group leaders, women’s group leader, 
village development committee members and 
District Representatives. There was a good balance 
in the gender composition present in the workshop.

Also part of the workshop was representatives from 
the FICAC, Forestry Officer, Criminal Investigator 
Navua base and the Provincial Administrator Serua.

Based on the government officers’ presentation, 
questions were raised by participants on the need 
for government officers to be effective and efficient 
on delivering services to the public. Another, 
important issue that was raised was the need for 
Environment Impact Assessment consultation to be 
held in villages for they are the ones that are usually 
affected.
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Citizens’ Constitutional Forum through its 
Community Education team implemented its third 
Community workshop for the informal settlements 
in the province of Serua. The workshop which was 
held at Coral Coast Christian Centre on the 05th & 
06th of March focused on ways that communities can 
use their constitutional rights after the election of the 
new government. It addressed the need for greater 
awareness that democratic rights are not limited to 
voting, but embrace a wide spectrum of challenges and 
are most effective if actively pursued by communities 
and their leaders.

The participants were settlements in the Serua 
Province which is made of 5 settlements namely 
Lepanoni, Waidradra, Vunibuabua, Mataikadawa and 
Tubarua. The participants were males and females 
between 17years of age to 50 years of age. There were 
21male and 12 female participants with the total of 34 
participant .The participants were the Headman from 
the 5 villages, youth group leaders, women’s group 
leader, village development committee members and 
church leaders. There was a good balance in the gender 
composition present in the workshop.

Below are some comments made by participants:

‘ I would like to personally thank CCF for having this 
workshop and including us to be part of this workshop 
in the province of Serua because we have learnt a 
lot from this workshop especially on human rights, 
women’s rights and marginalised people in our society 
like the LGBTQI community. We would like to have 
more of this so that we are aware of our rights and 
how to exercise our rights responsibly’. Youth rep from 
Lepanoni.

‘With informal settlements like us, we are usually 
ignored or left out in terms of development, awareness 
such as this and training but today we are thankful to 
the Serua Provincial Office and CCF for thinking of 
us and having us to be part of this workshop. Citizens’ 
rights, human rights are things we take for granted and 
at times we use it wrongly but after this workshop I for 
one know that every individual have rights and that it 
comes with responsibility’.  Tubarua settlement leader.

Citizens’ Constitutional Forum through its 
Community Education team implemented its last 
Community workshop for the Indo Fijian settlements 
in the province of Serua. The workshop which 
was held at the Pearl Resort on the 26th & 27th of 
March focused on ways that communities can use 
their constitutional rights after the election of the 
new government. It addressed the need for greater 
awareness that democratic rights are not limited to 
voting, but embrace a wide spectrum of challenges and 
are most effective if actively pursued by communities 
and their leaders.

The participants were from settlements in the Serua 
Province which is made of 8 settlements namely 
Wainadoi, Calia, Nakaulevu, Naitata, Wainividio, 
Nasasa, Togoru and Nakoba. The participants were 
males and females between 17years of age to 50 years 
of age. There were 21male and 12 female participants 
with the total of 34 participant .The participants were 

the Advisory Councillors from the above mentioned 
settlements, youth group leaders, women’s group 
leader, and church leaders. There was a good balance in 
the gender composition present in the workshop.

Given below are some comments made by participants:
‘On behalf of the Calia community I would like thank 
CCF for this great opportunity in bringing this kind of 
workshop where talk and discuss about human rights 
and issues that we face in our different communities’. 
Advisory Councillor Calia Settlement
‘Our communities are neither in the urban nor rural 
area and so we have kind of unique issues but when 
it comes to human rights, citizens right we are all the 
same. As a member of the Wainadoi community I 
would like to thank CCF for bringing this workshop 
because now we have learn a lot things especially on 
human rights and citizens right Tubarua settlement 
leader.

Upholding Citizens’ Constitutional Rights for Democratic Consolidation in 
Fiji - Serua Informal Settlements 

Upholding Citizens’ Constitutional Rights for Democratic 
Consolidation in Fiji - Serua Indo-Fijian 
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Following a successful scoping session with community 
leaders from the tikina (district) Veinuqa and Naqar-
awai in the Province of Namosi, the CCF community 
education team facilitated a community profiling ses-
sion with the same participants at the Namosi Provin-
cial Office in Navua town.

This platform provided the opportunity for CCF and 
community leaders to share information collated from 
the scoping session with local government representa-
tives in Navua, and also enlighten them with the CCF 
intended MISEREOR project for the province in 2019 
and 2020. 

The meeting between these stakeholders would enforce 
and ensure the provision of democratic spaces for 
the identified districts to participate meaningfully in 
the project activities, and seek the full support of the 
government offices to be partners in the activities.

The community profiling activity assisted CCF with 
a better understanding the needs of the communities 
in the 2 districts, and the support systems of the local 
government offices that would ensure an effective 
implementation of the MISEREOR funded projects.

Description of activities during the meeting: 

• Meeting all the District representatives from 
the district of Naqarawai and Veinuqa, the Traditional 

leaders, the village headman (Turaga ni koro), the 
district representatives (Mata ni Tikina), the women 
representatives, the village nurses or health workers, the 
youth representatives or youth coordinators

• Distribution of the CCF information folder 
that consists of the Community Program Project 
Background paper information, the resource materials 
including the Good Governance flyer and brochure, 
Human Rights brochure, UDHR flyer and the OBS Fact 
Finding sheet and the Scoping template

• CCF Community Programme Coordinator 
Viniana explained and talked about the projected 
activities, the timelines and the intended desirable 
outcomes of the project, clarification on CCF’s stand as 
it is apolitical and the funding aspect.

• The participants welcomed and are thankful 
towards the project as, due to their geographical 
location, CSO’s and other NGO’s hardly ever make it up 
to their communities.

• The Scoping template was the centre of 
discussion as the participants were given time to assess 
and comment on it, knowing that the offices have their 
own database in which they gather data at their own 
disposal. The offices or participants were also asked to 
add any information to the collated data that they know 
is missing from the information gathered.  

Community Profiling - Namosi
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CCF Attends the 40th Session of the Human Rights Council 

The trip to Geneva started on 
Friday 8 March 2019 with three of 
us from the Citizens’ Constitutional 
Forum (CCF).  We left Fiji, 
travelling more than twenty-two 
hours to Switzerland to attend the 
40th session of the Human Rights 
Council (HRC) from March 11 
-15. Preparations for the journey 
included online applications for 
visas and UN accreditations.  We 
had to travel to New Zealand for 
our Schengen visa interviews and 
returned to Fiji before travelling 
to Switzerland.  Advice from the 
Commonwealth Human Rights 
Initiative (CHRI) had us applying 
to the Centre D’accueil La Geneve 
Internationale (CAGI) which 
facilitates and assists NGOs, 
missions, civil servants and so forth 
with accommodation in Geneva.  

On Monday 11 March 2019, 
we finally met Yashasvi Nain 
of the Commonwealth Human 

Rights Initiative (CHRI) after 
many correspondences via email, 
whattsapp and skype.  Yash had 
been in contact with us since 2018 
and was instrumental in getting 
us to Geneva.  Present as well 
were Pacific representatives from 
Papua New Guinea and Vanuatu.  
The day was spent getting our UN 
accreditations processed at Palais 
Des Nations, the home of the United 
Nations Office in Geneva.  Sanjoy 
Hazarika, the Director of CHRI who 
is a film maker and author joined 
us later that day.  We met with 
Michael Anthony of Human Rights 
Commissions Network (HRCnet) 
and Edwina MacDonald of Human 
Rights Law Centre Australia.  There 
were discussions on the global north 
and global south and the need to get 
more CSOs from the latter in spaces 
such as the HRC.   One subject that 
often popped up in conversations 
amongst Team CCF was accessibility, 
especially for communities that 

want to bring their issues to such 
a platform, communities that 
need to be there to give first-hand 
accounts of their experiences 
concerning human rights.  Access 
is not easy.  Access means money.

The second day was spent at the 
Fiji Mission with the Ambassador 
who is also the Vice President of 
the Human Rights Council.  She 
was encouraging of CSOs from 
Fiji being part of the HRC process. 
The same sentiment was shared by 
Kevin from the Australian mission 
who was happy there was Pasifika 
representation.  We attended the 
plenary in Room 20 and it was riveting 
listening to States question States 
about their human rights violations 
and States telling States to clean up 
their own backyards.  After States 
presentations, Non-State Actors 
(NSA) were given the opportunity 
to present.  Under CHRI, a joint 
statement by PNG, Vanuatu,  and
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Fiji was read by Lusia Lagilevu 
of CCF. The statement focused 
on Fiji swiftly implementing the 
United Nations Convention Against 
Torture (UNCAT); the need for 
the three countries to expand civic 
space; addressing the alarming 
rate of violence against women in 
Vanuatu; legislation concerning 
sorcery related crimes and the 
need to have a National Human 
Rights Institution in PNG.  At the 
HRC, timing is everything and 
so statements need to be done 
with precision.  Our statement 
was strictly ninety seconds long.

We had a talanoa or informal meeting 
with the Fiji Mission Ambassador 
and the second secretary on 
the morning of day three. We 
discussed Free Prior Informed 
Consent (FPIC), legislations, 
Environment Impact Assessments 
(EIAs) and access to information, 
media freedom and the need to 
have Fiji’s Human Rights and Anti 
-Discrimination Commission Paris 
principles compliant.  They noted 
our concerns and the Ambassador 
suggested a media workshop to 
be facilitated by an International 
expert and to have government reps 
and CSOs as participants so there is 
an understanding of how the media 
industry works in Fiji.  We brought 
up the issue of trying to access 
information such as Ministries 
annual reports to which the second 
secretary responded she would 
try her best to get meetings with 
Ministers of certain ministries like 
Ministry of Environment, Ministry 
of Women, Ministry of Education, 
Ministry of Health, Corrections 
Department and Police.  Another 
theme discussed was CCF’s work 
on the Open Budget Survey which 

looks at the availability of eight 
key budget documents that should 
be made available in a fiscal year.

The afternoon of day three had the 
much anticipated event happen 
which was the side event by CHRI 
on Human Rights Challenges 
in Commonwealth Small Island 
States.  I spoke for eight minutes on 
Violence Against Women and Girls, 
Freedoms of expression, assembly 
and association and limited civic 
space in Fiji.  A few of our CSO 
partners contributed to the content 
of the presentation and they were 
Fiji Women’s Rights Movement 
(FWRM), Bua Urban Youth 
Network (BUYN), Ecumenical 
Centre for Research Education and 
Advocacy (ECREA), Rainbow Pride 
Foundation (RPF) and Fiji Trades 
Union Congress (FTUC). The event 
was attended by a representative 
from OHCHR, Fiji Mission reps, 
the Vanuatu Ambassador, a PNG 
rep, CHRI reps along with other 
International CSOs.  The room was 
a bit tense and I wondered if it was to 
do with attendees trying to process 
the content of our presentations.  
Vanuatu talked about gender based 
violence and PNG focused on 
sorcery related violence on women.

The final two days were spent 
meeting with the Vanuatu mission, 
attending Nigeria’s UPR reporting 
and listening to States respond to it.  
Vanuatu’s stance on West Papua is an 
example to Fiji and all States in the 
Pacific.  We need to stop the human 
rights violations on our fellow Pacific 
Islanders.  All States in the Pacific 
need to speak up for West Papua.

We attended two side events at 
Palais, one was on pre-trial detention 

organized by CHRI and the other 
was on new authoritarianism: 
implications to human rights and 
civil society by HRCNET which 
was quite thrilling.  The Brazilian 
ambassador stormed out after 
debating with the Brazilian LGBTIQ 
activist panelist Jean Wyllys, who 
is also a lecturer, journalist and 
politician. The Brazilian ambassador 
objected to Wyllys bringing 
LGBTIQ issues to the UN and she 
stressed Brazil being a democracy.

If CSOs are not allowed spaces at 
home to protest about human rights 
violations, then the UN platform 
is one to maximize on. Otherwise, 
where are we going to take our 
issues to call for change, to make 
recommendations that we hope our 
State and other member states of the 
UN would push to be implemented?

I thought about diplomacy a lot 
during the week.  What are types 
and levels of diplomacy at the UN? 
How do big states treat small states? 
Do CSOs like mine understand the 
different diplomacy mechanisms? 
How do big states use their power 
over small states like ours in the 
Pacific? Are small states dependent 
on bigger states for economic gain 
and are therefore submissive to 
these big states? How do small 
states navigate their way through?  

What is the Fiji mission or the Fiji 
government going to do with our 
recommendations?

How are UN member states 
going to push for our CSO UPR 
recommendations in this 3rd cycle 
of reporting? 
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What strategies can CSOs operating in shrinking 
spaces use to pressure their States to implement 
recommendations?  How are states held accountable 
for their promises and plans to action things?  How can 
International NGOs assist local NGOs?

The road to hell is paved with good intentions. 
Otherwise, it is all just lip service.

After spending one week at the HRC, I experienced a bit 
of how States play.   

I experienced a bit about how lobbyists and pressure 
groups work. I learnt about how the UPR reporting 
mechanism works.  I was reminded of how CSOs play 
an important role in holding States accountable to the 
promotion and protection of Human Rights.  CSOs are also 

responsible in the promotion and protection of human 
rights through advocacy and activism.  I would like to 
see more representation of Pacific CSOs and peoples in 
such spaces.  We are not small island states, we are states 
in the largest ocean on earth and we need to have access 
to sail our Drua or canoes through to tell our stories. 

It was a refreshing change and a great learning 
opportunity. We met and connected with remarkable 
people making changes in their communities and at the 
Regional and International levels.  

I am very grateful to CHRI for facilitating our travel to 
the 40th Session of the HRC and most importantly for 
recognizing the need to be inclusive of NGOs like CCF. 

The International Convention on the Elimination of All 
Forms of Racial Discrimination (ICERD) is a United 
Nations convention. A third-generation human rights 
instrument, the Convention commits its members 
to the elimination of racial discrimination and the 
promotion of understanding among all races. 

The Citizens’ Constitutional Forum (CCF) will be 
observing the day through the theme: “Countering 
Ideologies That Fuel Racism”. 

In countering these ideologies that seek to create 
intolerance in our society, we choose to advocate for 
RESPECT to champion our message. We believe that 
through applying self-respect in one’s life, and realising 
self-worth and value as a human being, one will be able 
to respect their neighbors. We also choose to advocate 
through respect as it is closely connected to love, 
responsibility and humility. 

Tessa Mackenzie - CCF Board Chairperson, said: 
“Respect is an excellent tool! People used to talk about 
toleration but if you tolerate someone, you’re just 
putting up with them but respect is far deeper and 
that is what we need to be championing – is respect 
for everyone, every person if different and we need to 
remember the words, don’t judge other people , because 
once you start judging other people, you lose respect.”

International Day for the Elimination of Racial Discrimination

Meanwhile, CCF joined hundreds of people from all 
walks of life who gathered in Suva to remember the 
victims of the Sri Lanka terror attacks on Easter Sunday 
which killed more than 300 people.

The general secretary of the Pacific Conference of 
Churches, Reverend James Bhagwan, condemned the 
bombings in Sri Lanka.

He said it was important to stand in solidarity with Sri 
Lanka as it did for Christchurch last month.

CCF produced a short video that included concerns 
that were raised by Tessa Machenzie and Rev Bhagwan 
who were amongst those who were present at the 
rememberence service that took place at the Holy 
Trinity Cathedral in Suva.

Go to this link to watch the clip: https://www.youtube.
com/watch?v=pGNUC6vlEwA



CCF ANNUAL REPORT 2019
31

The 21st of March is an important date on the human 
rights calendar as it will mark International Day for 
the Elimination of Racial Discrimination (IDERD). 
It brings attention to nations that have signed the 
International Convention on the Elimination of all 
forms of Racial Discrimination (ICERD) which includes 
Fiji that ratified the treaty on the January 11, 1973.

The theme for the IDERD 2019 is: “Mitigating 
and countering rising nationalist populism and 
extreme supremacist ideologies,” which will focus 
on racist extremist movements based on ideologies 
that seek to promote populist, nationalist agendas 
that are spreading in various parts of the world, 
fueling racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia 
and related intolerance, often targeting migrants 
and refugees as well as people of African descent.

However, for us to observe ICERD in a Fiji context, 
we will look at how the primary subject and how it 
affects individuals or groups on the basis of their race, 
ethnicity, national origin and religion, or other related 
social categories.

CCF looked at maximizing participation with a wide 

demographic of people by inviting the general public to 
a Walk Against Racism event on Saturday, 23 March, 
from 8 am – 10 am.

Walk Against Racism was an event where individuals or 
groups can walk, run, cycle or be part of the event on a 
wheel chair, that will cover a 4km route that will start at My 
Suva Park through to the bus stop outside the Fiji National 
University catering school and back to the starting point.
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Human Rights, Business and Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) 
in the Pacific - Diplomacy Training Program 2019

Diplomacy Training Program (DTP) in partnership 
with the Citizens Constitutional Forum (CCF) Pacific 
Islands Association of NGOs (PIANGO), the UN’s 
Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights 
(OHCHR), Business & Human Rights Resource Centre, 
and the UNSW Institute for Global Development 
organised its second capacity building program 
on Business, Human Rights and the Sustainable 
Development Goals in Suva, Fiji from March 25-29.

The program enabled sharing of knowledge and 
experience and built the knowledge, skills and capacity 
of community advocates to protect and promote human 
rights and sustainable development in the Pacific, 
including through effective engagement with the UN’s
Universal Periodic Review and Special Procedures.

The program helped build knowledge of international 
human rights standards and mechanisms that can be 
applied and integrated into effective advocacy strategies 
and address the challenges of unchecked economic 
encroachment. There was a focus on the UN Guiding 
Principles on Business and Human Rights and on
the Sustainable Development Goals. 

Participants shared concerns over the practices of 
businesses in the Pacific region and the negative 
impacts on some communities – with a major focus 
on the extractive industries (mining/forestry) and on 
tourism developments.

This program followed a successful pilot program 
in 2018 and responds to the need to develop the 
knowledge in civil society, business and government 
of relevant human rights standards including the UN 
Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights 
– and how these relate to development planning 
and projects. The commitment of the participants to 
establish a new network on Human Rights and Business 
in the Pacific will help to ensure the sustainability of 
outcomes and the program partners are also committed 
to continuing their collaboration on these issues.

The program brought together 27 civil society 
advocates (16 women) from 7 Pacific Island countries 
- Tuvalu, Solomon Islands, Vanuatu, Cook Islands, Fiji, 
Tonga and Papua New Guinea (PNG). The participants 
represented NGOs, trade unions, community-
based organisations, environmental groups, 
academia, and faith-based organisations (FBOs).
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UN Deputy High Commissioner for Human 
Rights Meets with Fiji CSO’s

The UN deputy High Commissioner for Human 
Rights, Kate Gilmore, recently visited Fiji to discusss 
the human rights situation in the country. 

During her visit, Gilmore held extensive talks with the 
Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights, 
the United Nations Resident-Coordinator and mem-
bers of the United Nations Country team. 

She also attended an afternoon dialogue session mem-
bers of the Fiji Civil Society Organisations who had the 
chance to voice their concerns with regards to human 
rights issues in Fiji.

The Citizens’ Constitutional Forum (CCF) shared 
the restrictions that are in place for the Freedom of 
Assembly and Freedom of Association; this affected 
CCFs day-to-day business as a result of the restrictive 
environment to exercise these specific rights due to our 
existing legislative framework.  

Section 18 and 19 of the 2013 Constitution of the 
Republic of Fiji (“Constitution”) provides for the 
freedom of assembly  and association . Neither of 
these rights are absolute as the Constitution allows the 
state to limit these rights in the interests of national 
security, public safety, public order, public morality, 
public health or the orderly conduct of elections, for 

the purpose of protecting the rights and freedoms of 
others or for the purpose of imposing restrictions on 
the holders of public offices.

Section 18 and 19 of Fiji’s Constitution and Article 
21 and 22 of the International Covenant on Civil and 
Political Rights (ICCPR) to which Fiji is a party, guar-
antees the freedom of peaceful assembly and freedom 
of association. In Fiji, authorities have allowed some 
peaceful demonstrations to take place while on a num-
ber of other occasions this right has been arbitrarily 
restricted. E.g Permits not approved to Fiji Trade 
Union Congress for planned peaceful demonstrations 
on two occasions in February and September 2018. 
Despite these commitments, there continues to be a 
legal environment that restricts civic space in Fiji and 
the existence of restrictive laws has compelled CSOs to 
exercise an extent of self-censorship. During a country 
visit in February 2018, then-UN High Commissioner 
for Human Rights, Zeid Ra’ad Al Hussein, said that 
civil society groups are facing a ‘narrow civic space and 
the suppression of dissenting voices’.

Most recently, CCF celebrated International day for 
the Elimination of Racial Discrimination on March 
21st, nearly 2 weeks ago. We decided to honour the day 
through an early morning walk along the seaside. 
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We sent permit applications to the Fiji Police Force and 
also Fiji Roads Authority (although we were not using 
the main road, but the seawall side walk, so there was 
no need to interrupt morning traffic).

Unfortunately we did not receive a permit on time for 
the 21st; however we received the permit approval later 
on the 25th of March (4 days after ICERD day). The 
hassle of paperwork and waiting on official responses 
and also back and forth for clarity purposes is time con-
suming and burdensome. A process that hindered the 
celebration and honour of ICERD day on the calendar 
day.

Gilmore heard CCFs deep concerns for the use of 
restrictive laws that criminalize civil society activists 
and human rights defenders for exercising their rights 
to peaceful assembly and association, and especially for 
trade unions therefore the following are recommenda-
tions we put forward:

1. The Government of Fiji to create and maintain, 
in law and in practice an enabling environment for 
civil society, in accordance with the rights enshrined in 
the ICCPR. At minimum, the following rights should 
be guaranteed without limitations: the freedom of 
association, peaceful assembly and expression, the right 
to operate free from unwarranted state interference.

2. Review provisions of the Public Order Amend-
ment Act, Crimes Act and Fiji’s Constitution that 
criminalize and pose limitation on our freedoms of 
assembly and association. Additionally the Public Order 
Amendment Act should be reviewed and amended to 
restrict the usage of force on citizens and unless force is 
required, the term “force” should be restricted or spe-
cifically interpreted. 

3. Promote an environment where civil society 
organisations are able to carry out their legitimate ac-
tivities without fear or undue hindrance, obstruction or 
legal and administrative harassment. CSOs complement 
the governments work in civic awareness and in the 
promotion and protection of human rights.

4. Fiji Government to extend an invitation and 
facilitate a visit by the UN Special Rapporteur on the 
situation of human rights defenders.

We would also like to urge OHCHR and other UN 
agencies to continually push for good governance 
practices in Fiji and for the State to implement recom-
mendations it accepted in the 2014 Universal Periodic 
Review.  We especially call for the swift implementation 
of CAT.

                      

“
Section 18 and 19 of the 2013 
Constitution of the Republic of 

Fiji provides for the freedom 
of assembly  and association 
. Neither of these rights are 
absolute as the Constitution 

allows the state to limit these 
rights
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The activity, which is a Strength-
ening Local Level Institution 
workshop, was implemented at the 
Central Cuisine Conference Room 
in Suva.  There were about 42 par-
ticipants who attended this work-
shop, 38 of whom are male aged 29 
- 52, 4 female aged 38 – 46, 18 are 
youths and all are male.  There was 
no person living with disabilities 
or any transgender present in the 
workshop.

➢ The sessions were all cov-
ered , suggestions based on experi-
ences from the 2 afternoon field 
work were taken into consideration 
for the successful implementation 
of the methodologies and

processes that were to bring the 
real needs of the people and re-
flected in their community devel-
opment plans

➢ The traditional leaders who 
were part of the training embraced 
the learning’s of the workshop and 

encouraged the inclusive participa-
tion of the whole community in 
terms of knowledge shared during 
the workshop.

Comments and Reponses from the 
Group work discussions before the 
knowledge was imparted:

Good Governance session:

•  The participants agreed 
that traditional values that has 
always upheld good decision 
making has eroded and people 
in the village are no longer re-
specting their chiefs and leader-
ship

•  We must first understand      
heritage and customs,

•  Leaders must be fair and just
•  Leaders must consider their 
              subordinates

•  Good leaders must have 
              endurance to tackle whatever 
              circumstances that arise

•  Must see that the people are 
              economically empowered

Strengthening Local Level Institutions, SART/ART Training
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Strengthening Local Level Institutions, SART/ART Training

Responses from the recap session:
• Participants provided recap of what they have 
learnt from day 1:

•  The methodologies are new to them as they 
are used to handing out and making decisions for 
the people rather than with the people, this deci-
sion will take time getting used to, but it’s the best 
practice for community development.

•  Women still feel that they should not be part 
of some discussions because for so long they have 
been treated that way, but once given the encour-

agement to be part of the decision making discus-
sions, they felt included and empowered to be part 
of the process.

•  Youth are still not sure about their role in the 
discussion, just like the women they are used to be-
ing told on what to do rather than their voice being 
heard in decision making discussions such as in 
this afternoon field work activity.

•  The participants, from the reactions that they 
got from the community understood why in their 
work in the community has not been fully sup-
ported by the whole community, is because their 
approach has not been inclusive. 
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•	 The participants will share their experiences with 
CCF and the Ministry of I Taukei Affairs Board, Wellbeing 
department through emails and phone calls for clarity and 
suggestions to improve on the approaches due to the dif-
ferent contexts that the participants work in, some work in 
remote areas, some work in remote maritime islands, and 
a handful work in the semi urban areas, where access is an 
advantage.

•	 The	two	CCF	trainers	from	the	Community	Pro-
gramme team will be helping the village committee and the 
TNK in the implementation of the development plan that 
they will be putting together through participative processes 
with the participants.

Strengthening Local Level Institutions, SART/ART Training
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1 
 

26th April 2019 
 
The Ministry of Economy 
Budget Division 
Level 9, Ro Lalabalavu House 
Victoria Parade 
Suva.  
 
To whom it may concern  

 
RE: 2019 -2020 National Budget – Written Submission in relation to public consultations with civil 

society for the formulation of the 2019 - 2020 National Budget. 
 

Citizens’ Constitutional Forum (CCF) is an independent non-government human rights organisation 
which strives to empower citizens through education on good governance and human rights, facilitating a 
sustainable democracy through active citizenship and advocating for a constitution that guarantees human 
rights and democracy. CCF welcomes the participatory and inclusive nature of these public consultations 
and call for written submissions for the 2019 - 2020 National Budget and hopes that this engagement is 
meaningful and effective in the formulation of a human rights based framework to budgetary decision-
making. 
The formulation of the National Budget is an opportune time to resource the progressive realisation of its 
commitment to economic, social, civil and political rights through the Bill of Rights, introducing related 
Bills of Parliament and through the ratification and implementation of international treaties. In its 
implementation, the Constitution also mandates the establishment and restructuring of independent 
government institutions as well as corresponding prescribed laws to strengthen its policy objectives in 
relation to accountability, transparency and good governance. CCF realises that in order for the 
government to progressively realise fundamental human rights, its budgetary decisions must reflect the 
effective use of available resources to protect, promote and fulfil these rights and freedoms.  
 
It is by means of this background that CCF puts forward a submission for the 2019 - 2020 National 
Budget that is presented in two significant parts. The first highlights key recommendations of 
constitutional and legislative fulfilment of independent commissions such as the Fiji Human Rights and 
Anti-Discrimination Commission and the Accountability and Transparency Commission.   The second 
part of the submission articulates recommendations which were collated as a result of a Rights Based 
Approach to Development session that CCF conducted with 23 villages in the Province of Serua, 5 
villages in the island of Rabi and with the Women of the Province of Bua. The training programme 
included a rights based approach to development, where the participants learned to identify, prioritise and 
analyse their needs and concerns and further to write project proposal papers. The latter part of the 
submission also highlights areas of concern for these Provinces, and is linked to the Bill of Rights and the 
Sustainable Development Goals. These raise the need for improved rural community infrastructure, 
proper education facilities and materials, access to proper health care services, access to transportation, 
access to reliable and clean water sources, and equal opportunity of the right to economic participation. 
 
CCF is optimistic that these needs/concerns will be considered in the 2019 - 2020 National Budget.  
 

Budget Submission - Cover Letter



      M
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Tomorrow marks an important date on the calendar 
for the LGBTQI community as a Pride March and 
Park Rally has been organised by the Rainbow Fiji 
Coalition Secretariat which is co-led by the Haus of 
Khameleon and the Rainbow Pride Foundation, are 
spearheading and coordinating most of the activities 
that are planned to commemorate the International 
Day Against Homophobia, Transphobia, and Biphobia 
(IDAHOTB) in Suva this year.

Speaking at a press conference today, Isikeli Vulavou 
of the Rainbow Pride Foundation says we need to be 
protected by all institutions.

“When someone has been shunned from society 
because he or she is different, the only place they will 
seek social protection is their family,” said Vulavou.

“But what we seen from the research that we’ve 
conducted is that families have been the first to turn 
away from their own just because of their sexual 
orientation or gender identity.”

“This is the sad reality that we live in today, added 
Founder and President of Rainbow Pride Foundation 
Board of Directors.

Over the past decades, protection of LGBTQI people 
and all people with diverse sexual orientations, 

gender identities and gender expressions and sex 
characteristics, has greatly expanded. This progress 
is worth celebrating, and this is why May 17th is 
foremost, a day for celebration as well as a day to make 
key call for actions on relevant stakeholders.

“In Fiji, it is quite clear that 2013 Constitution 
prohibits discrimination against people on the basis 
of sexual orientation and gender identity and gender 
expression. It is imperative that the state and all 
other actors fully recognizes this aspect. And given 
Fiji’s recent appointment as Vice Chair of the United 
Nations Human Rights Council, the state has a 
responsibility to also uphold, respect, promote and 
protect human rights for everyone in Fiji.,” said Ms. 
Miki Wali (Coordinator - Haus of Khameleon)

A Pride March and Park Rally is being organized 
in Suva to commemorate this year’s IDAHOTB 
celebration. Other events include the launch of DIVA 
for Equality’s “Unjust, Unequal, Unstoppable” Report 
which is related to Access to Justice.

These events are also to ensure that there is spotlight 
on our celebrations and on the multiple and 
intersecting forms of injustice and inequalities.

International Day against Homophobia, Transphobia and Biphobia.
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The Citizens’ Constitutional Forum (CCF) is proud to host a media 
forum in partnership with the Fijian Media Association (FMA) to 
commemorate World Press Freedom Day. The forum is organized 
to create a space for local media organisation and civil society 
organisations to discuss and address issues pertinent to their work.
The media forum will be held on Friday - May 3 at the Suva 
Business Centre and is supported by the European Union’s 
“Participative Democracy and Accountability Action (PDA)” project. 

CCF’s Programme Manager, Louchrisha Hussain says the forum 
will provide an opportunity for the media and CSO’s to engage 
in sharing lived experiences around this year’s theme “Media for 
Democracy: Journalism and Election in times of Disinformation”. 

FMA President, Stanley Simpson says: “This space was created to give 
journalists a chance to speak freely about the challenges and triumphs 
they face in getting stories for the headlines on a daily basis and share 
their accounts of their coverage during the 2018 Fiji General Elections.”

World Press Freedom Day

Media for Democracy: 
Journalism and Elections
in Times of 
Disinformation
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The United Nations adopted this day in 1991 after the 
Windhoek Declaration - an influential statement that was 
compiled by a group of newspaper journalists in Namibia, 
was issued at a UNESCO conference during a time when 
media personnel faced constant pressure and violence in 
Africa. It called for free, independent media worldwide, 
emphasizing that a free press is essential to democracy 
and to be recognized as a fundamental human right.

Since its adoption, WPFD is an opportunity to 
celebrate the fundamental principles of press 
freedom, to evaluate press freedom around the 
world, to defend the media from attacks on their 
independence and to pay tribute to journalists who 
have lost their lives in the exercise of their profession.

CCF in partnership with the FMA hosted this media 
forum where senior journalists where able to share their 
views on the theme of this years media freedom day. 

CCF in partnership with the FMA will host 
this media forum discussion with panelists:

•Indra Singh (FBC – News Director)
•Nemani Delaibatiki (Fiji Sun – Manager Editor Training)
•Fred Wesley (Fiji Times – Editor in Chief)
•Makereta Komai (PINA Manager & PACNEWS Editor)
•Dreu Vukuilagi (Fiji TV – Manager News & Sports)
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The Citizens’ Constitutional Forum (CCF) continues 
to       explore new spaces to carry-out its work of 
advocating  Fiji’s Constitution, democracy and human 
rights. A new activity that CCF introduced to its 
advocacy work is the Youth Group Chat that is funded 
by MISEREOR.

CCF will invite individuals or groups within the target-
ed demographic, Fijians between the ages of 15 to 35, 
to be part of a Youth Chat Group, that will streamed 
LIVE on CCF’s facebook page.

Through this medium, we will hear stories of how they 
have made a difference in their communities by simply 
being an active citizen. The participants of this LIVE 
broadcast, which will be hosted by CCF’s Communi-
cations Officer – Sylvester Racule, will also be given 
a chance to articulate their understanding of active 
citizenry,  the challenges they face in having a voice in 
decision making, and why it’s important for them to be 
heard.

 The activity will be delivered through a studio in-
terview format which will be streamed LIVE from 

CCF on the mentioned social media platform.                                            
The first Youth Group Chat had 3 segments with the 
1st segment hosted by CCFs research officer, Vilisi 
Gadolo in which Romitesh Kant was her guest. They 
spoke about some of the findings in  the State of the 
Youth CCF endorsed research that he is drafting.

The 2nd segement was hosted by CCFs Communica-
tions Officer, Sylvester Racule who spoke to Jofiliti 
Veikoso and Elisha Bano on the theme “ Young People 
are Active stakeholders, not victims or a problemactic 
demography.

Mr Racule hosted the 3rd live chat and spoke with 
Amasai Jeke and Abdul Mufiz Shaheen on the topic 
of “ Youth participation takes place at many levels of 
democratic life on a spectrum from traditional and 
conventional to the innovative and creative.”

This is a new platform of media advocacy that the team 
at CCF is exploring, and after viewing the statistics that 
were provided by facebook for the engagment by veiw-
ers  on all 3 segments, we believe this activity has been 
a success.

Youth Chat Group - Active Citizenery
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Segment 1

Segment 2

Segment 3

TOP AUDIENCE: Women between 25yrs to 34yrs

TOTAL REACH: 180 views

VIEWERS: 38% men and 59% women

TOP AUDIENCE: Women between 25yrs to 34yrs

TOTAL REACH: 283 views

VIEWERS: 40% men and 54% women

TOP AUDIENCE: mEN between 25yrs to 34yrs

TOTAL REACH: 319 views

VIEWERS: 54% men and 40% women
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UN Secretary General Visits Fiji
United Nations Secretary-General António 
Guterres arrived in Suva, Fiji, from New 
Zealand, in the early evening of Tuesday, 14 May.

This historic visit was the first-ever to the Pacific by 
UNSG Guterres and becomes a milestone achievement 
towards cementing stronger diplomatic relations 
between the United Nations and the Pacific Region, 
especially in the lead up to the upcoming UNSG’s 
climate action summit in September later this year.

He later went to the Pacific Islands Forum secretariat where 
he delivered remarks to the opening session of the Forum.

He told Pacific leaders that he was there to see the region’s 
climate pressures first-hand and to learn about the work 
being undertaken by communities there to bolster 
resilience.  He said:  “I know that Pacific island communities 
have been responding actively to today’s hardships and 
tomorrow’s dangers.  You are drawing on a long history 
of adaptation and traditional ecological knowledge.”

The Secretary-General visited the University of 
the South Pacific where he met with young people 
and women’s groups who are taking climate 
action.  The Secretary-General heard about their 
work and told them that the world needs their 

generation to keep his generation accountable.
In his address during his visit to the Fiji Parliament, he 
commended Fiji for taking the lead in climate action. 
He said: “Fiji has also shown leadership in addressing 
issues of human mobility and climate change, with 
respect for human rights.  You have relocated villages 
and established guidelines on how to support people 
displaced by climate-related impacts.  Other countries 
in the region can learn from your example”.

On his official visit to the pacific, the Secretary General
also visited Tuvalu and Vanuatu.

United Nations Secretary-General António Guterres
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Each year in June, the team at the Citizens’ Consitutional 
Forum (CCF) has a week of planning and reflection. 

Reflecting on the work that was done in the first 6 
months of the year is a fantastic way for the team to 
develope knowledge because it gives breathing space 
to stand back, assess a situation and identify what they 
have done well and how processes can be tweaked to 
do things better should a simliar situation arise in the 
future.

This process is critical for all team members as they 
get to impart or recieve feedback from each other, and 
generate knowlegde of the deliverables of project teams.

It allows managing a situation and reflecting on it 
afterwards which can give powerful insights about 
how to make improvement both personally and 
professionally and gain experience.

Not only can reflective practice improve team knowledge, 
skills and practice but it can also improve the quality of 
service provided by your entire organisation as part of 
continuous development.

Following a successful reflection session, the CCF team 
mapped out the next 6 months of 2019.

An integral part of the operations for the organisation, 
this activity gives the team a sense of aim and will 
motivate them to accomplish short term and as well as 
long term projects.

The project teams are given the clear goals, objectives,
budget lines and the proposed dates for implementation 
of the project activities.

It has been noted that when team members are part of 
this stage of planning, there is an emergence of new 
ideas and methods that can be evaluated and then 
implemented in a proper way.

Both sessions motivated the team to work towards their 
deliverables for the remainder of the year with the new 
knowlegde gained.

Part of the 6 month planning and reflection was a retreat  
to South Sea Island, where the team had a team bonding 
session to get them ready for their upcoming activities.

Team Reflection Team Planning

6 MONTHS PLANNING & REFLECTION



TEAM BONDING
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Budget Analysis Workshop - Rotuma

Communities on Rotuma were part of a national 
budget analysis workshop that was held at the Itumuta 
community  hall in the District of Itumuta, Romuta.

This would be the first time that a team from the Citizens’ 
Constitutional Forum has ever to visit this group of 
islands that lies approximately 465 km to the north of the 
Fiji Islands.

The participants who travelled from near by communities   
to the venue of the workshop were first enlightened on 
their basic human rights and how it was linked to the 
national budget.

This approach is critical at the community level, so that 
if they have a need for clean drinking water; they have 
a clear understanding that these basic needs are also a 
human right.

Taking that knowledge gained, the participants map a 
village development plan and align them with areas of 
priority for their community, also keeping in mind that 
all this has to be done with rights based approach to 
development.

From the knowlegde gained during the workshop, the

participants head back to their communities with 
this new  knowlegde and share with their family, 
friends and neighbours. It provides them with an 
insight at how they can also take part in the national 
budget process.

The CCF team mentioned during this visit that they 
will return for more workshops that will include 
drafting of village development plans that will be 
submited in the next national budget.

CCF firmly believes that these community workshops 
will change attitudes and mindsets amongst the 
receipents of the trainings and have a positive effect 
on the livelyhood of their communities. It will also 
bring some dignity in terms of human rights.

Participation in a national budget by citizens is 
vital as it is a means of improving the performance 
and accountability of bureaucracies and improving 
social justice.

Budget participation can offer innovative solutions 
that would not have risen citizen proposals are not 
submitted.

CCF will return to Rotuma for additional workshops. 
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Hope FM Interview

Citizens’ Constitutional Forum (CCF) Research and Policy Officer, Lusia Lagilevu, and Research Officer, Vilisi 
Gadolo were invited to be part of a talk-back show called Life Line with Hope FM in Suva.

This provided an opportunity for the representatives from CCF to share the work of their organisation with the 
target demographic of the Christian radio station. They spoke about the work they do with the CCF and how it 
contributes to the team as a collective. 

While sharing her work, Ms Gadolo highlighted that  CCF has been in operation for the past 20 years conducting 
community workshops that promote human rights, multiculturalism, constitutional democracy and good-
governance. 

Vilisi Gadolo said: “These workshops are done in rural and peri-urban areas around Fiji.”

During the interview they were asked about the core roles of the CCF.  Ms Lagilevu stated that empower citizens 
and educating them on their civic duties and how to responsibly exercise the rights that they have.

Ms Lagilevu said: “We empower citizens to be part of decision making policies and while also holding their 
representatives in parliament accountable.”

The listeners on the show got to hear about the national budget workshops that are conducted by the CCF 
community program team. 

Lagilevu added: “In these workshops our education team inform participants what the budget process is, what it 
entails, why it is important too citizens and how they can participate in the budget.

Vilisi and Lusia had the chance to explain about the Open Budget Survey and how this is a key tool in holding 
parliament representatives accountable.

Media advocacy is a strategy that CCF engages to reach its audience and radio allows that instantly through sound, 
and is by far, the cheapest, fastest, and most effective way to disseminate information to the largest number of 
people living in the remotest parts of Fiji.

CCF will continue to explore all channels of advocacy to reach as many citizens of Fiji with human rights related 
content.
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A new project came under the responsibilty of the Citizens’ Constitutional Forum (CCF) that fits right into the 
mandate of its 4 pillars of CCF.

The NGO took up the role of the Civil Society Parliamentary Coordinator under the United Nations Development 
Programme Fund (UNDP) Fiji Parliamentary Support Project;  the key activity for this project is to provide 
information to citizens on the role and the work of the Parliament.

Under this project that has a life-span of 12 months, will allow for the participation of Civil Society Organisations 
with the objective of enhancing civic engagement.

CCF will be responsible for the dissemination of information  gathered on the work of parliament through its 
network, and create understanding of the legislative and oversight process by developing tools, methodologies 
and mechanisms to facilitate the interaction between members of parliamement and civil soceity organisations to 
debate on specific issues. 

In preparation for this task, the CCF team had an extensive training session with representatives from UNDP 
and Mr Chaksu Roy, an expert on the rules and procedures of Parliament and its fuction. The participants were 
fortunate to gain knowlegde from Mr Roy who has conducted similar trainings in other countries where his 
students learn international best practices for work related to Parliament and are exposed using readily available 
tools for creating visually rich documents to make parliamentary information more accessible.

This project will strengthen citizens engagment with institutions of legislature and empower them to expand their 
civic responsibility beyond voting in an election.

Parliament Project Training
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Deliberative Democracy Exchange
Community Program Facilitator at the Citizens’ 
Constitutional Forum, Sevanai Tuicau, attended a 1 
week training which was held in Dayton, Ohio from 
the 8th to the 12th of July.

Held at the Kettering Foundation, Mr Tuicau was 
amongst participants from 36 countries with a total 
of 232 participants. Participants were from different 
background such as teachers, activists, civil servants, 
member of parliament, civil society’s representatives, 
professors, health workers and business people.

Each day started with a plenary where the President 
of the Kettering Foundation, the Vice President and 
other research officers and invited guests would speak 
on the work that they have done in their communities 
or other communities that they have worked.

Discussion groups are usually after the plenary 
session where we are given topics to deliberate on. 
Deliberations are facilitated by DDI 2 participants 
and Kettering Foundation research staffs. In each 
discussion groups, each participant has to make a 
presentation or take part in the discussion by relating 
the issue to their community.

Practice forums on social issues such as health, mental 
issues, family, sanitation, jobs, etc. In this session, the 
issues were discussed in a forum setting where each 
participant looked at the issue and try to discuss it 
by framing the issue, make decisions deliberatively, 
identify resources and organize actions.

The Kettering Foundation is a nonprofit operating 
foundation rooted in the American tradition of 
cooperative research. Kettering’s primary research 
question is, what does it take to make democracy work 
as it should? Kettering’s research is distinctive because it 
is conducted from the perspective of citizens and focuses 
on what people can do collectively to address problems 
affecting their lives, their communities, and their nation.

Mr Tuicau believes that this workshop/training broadened 
his  capacity as  Community Programme Officer for CCF 
and will benefit his work of  assisting   local communities 
plan their Integrated Village Development plan for the 
next 5 years.

Mr Tuicau said: “I work with communities and this 
workshop/training emphasizes the three important 
elements of democracy: citizens, communities and 
instittutions.”

He added: “The workshop has awaked the citizen in me 
to do all I can to make a difference in the communities 
that I am currently working in”.

The Community Education team will definitely 
incorporate what was learnt from this training as it will 
allow citizens in the communities to actively participate 
and engage institutions with public legitimacy that 
contribute to strengthening the work of citizens.
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Community Programe Coordinator at the Citizens’ 
Constitutional Forum, Viniana Cakau, attended the 
Deliberative Democracy Institute meeting in July 2017 
following an invitation from the Kettering Foundation 
in Dayton Ohio, USA. The invitation was based on the 
Community engagement the CCF Community Education 
team had with communities in Fiji. Her second attendance 
was in July 2018 the following the year that led to a further 
invitation to be part of a 6 months International Exchange 
Research Fellowship in 2019.

In working with the people, deliberation meant bringing 
them to deliberate in safe spaces keeping in mind the 
challenges of keeping the people interested, how they are 
receptive to and engage with the deliberative approach, 
maintaining trust and having confidence in the process 
of deliberation. The adoption and implementation of the 
naming and framing issues approach complimented the 
existing work of the community education team.

She wrote a reflection paper based on her learning 
experiences whilst experimenting the deliberative 
approach of naming and framing issues, examining the 
recognition and integration of this deliberative democratic 
approach into the existing organizational, local level 
authority system, traditional community meetings (bose 
vanua/ bose vakoro/ , mataqali and yavusa talanoa 
sessions) and explore ways of adapting this approach to 
local governance systems and CSO functions.

INTEGRATION AND IMPLEMENTATION OF 
THE NAMING AND FRAMING DELIBERATIVE 
APPROACH

• AIM – to connect, mobilize, engage, involve, 
include and improve participation of the people 

•  Complimented CCF’s mission – “Towards 
Sustainable Democracy”

•  supported by CCF management – blended 
in with some of CCF Community education existing 
approaches and methodologies in its workshops

•  integrated in the planning and scoping stages of 
our activities

THE  LEARNINGS

• not a stagnant democratic deliberative approach 
– it evolves

• The approach has influenced the system to work 
with the people

•  it portrays people’s differences in a positive way 
that gets understood by those who don’t 

•  strengthened mobilization of community 
associations

•  realization of the role of good and active 
citizenship

•  people will be producers rather than consumers

•  maximized and improved people’s participation

•  created a space for a honest deliberation for the 
people

•  connections and relationships  are made and 
built with each other  ( leaders, officials etc

•  the people realized during deliberations is 
that they have control over their issues – wealth, 
relationships, engagements, participation, development, 
growth, success and democracy

Deliberative Democracy Institute 
Fellowship
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Defending democracy through Good Governance and Transparecy 
in the Pacific Islands

Interim Chief Executive Officer of the Citizens’ 
Constitutional Forum, Louchrisha Hussain, attended a 
workshop called Defending democracy through Good 
Governance and Transparency in the Pacific Islands which 
was held at the East West center in Honolulu, Hawaii.

The workshop that was co-hosted by the Taiwan 
Foundation for Democracy and the East West Center 
aimed to discuss the roles civil societies and journalists 
can play in ensuring good governance, to combat 
potential threats of poor governance and foreign 
influence and the extent to which the tools journalists, 
advocates and non-governmental organisation 
workers can develop to better oversee government 
transparency and raise society-wise awareness

The Taiwan Foundation for Democracy (TFD) was 
established in 2003 to further the mission of democratic 
advocacy and to facilitate cooperation between Taiwan 
and fellow democracies. Domestically, the TFD strives to 
play a positive role in consolidating Taiwan’s democracy 
and fortifying the island-nation’s commitment to human 
rights and civic freedom. Internationally, the TFD 
hopes to serve as a key link in the world’s network of 
democratic advocates and policymakers, and join forces 
with organizations that share our vision for promoting 
democracy and fundamental freedoms around the globe.

Good governance is a concept many countries 
are currently advocating for, especially with 
increasing cases of foreign powers taking advantage 
of poor governance to fulfil their own interests. 
Though good governance is pivotal to sustaining a 

country’s economy, academics have found 
that higher levels of economic growth do 
not necessarily lead to better governance.
Moreover, the obligations of building good governance 
belong to not only administrations but also the people. 
This then highlights the importance of government 
transparency for active citizen participation. 

Taiwan and the United States enjoy a shared commitment 
to democracy and close cooperation across a wide range 
of issues. Good governance and transparency is one of 
such issues where both Taiwan and the U.S. make strong 
effort to uphold and support. Taiwan is often hailed 
as the leading democracy in Asia. We aspire to play a 
greater role in the region in the regard of protecting and 
promoting good governance and transparency, and wish 
to exchange ideas and cooperate with other countries in 
the region to make this happen. Taiwan has become a 
model of good governance for the Asia-Pacific region 
with its strong monitoring mechanisms and platforms 
for transparency. The island-nation is also one of the 
least corrupt governments in the Asia-Pacific, according 
to the 2017 latest Corruption Perceptions Index 
released by Berlin-based Transparency International. 

The workshop involved civil society representation 
from Fiji, Papua New Guinea, Solomon Islands 
and Tonga. Media representatives came from 
Kiribati, Marshall Islands, Nauru, Palau, Papua 
New Guinea, Solomon Islands and Tuvalu.

58
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Elections Workshop - Koro

Citizens’ Constitutional Forum through its Community Education team implemented its 1st Community workshop 
for District of Mudu, on the island of Koro in the province of Lomaiviti. The workshop was held at the Tuatua 
village community hall on the 23rd and 24th of July, 2019. The workshop focused on increasing community’s 
knowledge and understanding of democratic processes such as leadership to national processes such as election. 
Having the knowledge and skills will provide communities with the ability to engage and manage processes that 
they are directly involved in- whether it be development needs or leadership selection processes in their own 
community. 

The participants were from villages of the District of Mudu which is made of 8 villages. The villages are Mudu, 
Nakodu, Namacu, Sinuvaca, Naqaidamu, Nasau, Tuatua and Nacamaki. The participants were males and females 
between 25years of age to 70years of age. There were 24 male and 12 female participants with the total of 40 
participants .The participants were the Village Headman from the 4 villages, youth group leaders, women’s group 
leader, village development committee members and District Representatives. There was a good balance in the 
gender composition present in the workshop. 
Also part of the workshop was representatives from the District Officer Koro, Agriculture Officer Koro, Doctor In 
Charge (Koro Hospital), Station Officer Koro and Energy Fiji Limited.

In addition to the above mentioned contents, the Lomaiviti Province Conservation Officer also prepared and 
presented on the Rights of Communities to have their resources sustainably developed. She had posters and 
pamphlets prepared for the participants.

Furthermore, some of the service providers in Koro Island were also present to discuss the different programs and 
projects that are available in their different department. Participants were advised on what they should do if they 
want to get assistance for example for groups such as women’s group they need to be registered and active in the 
village. 



JANUARY

CCF ANNUAL REPORT 2019

JULY

CCF ANNUAL REPORT 2019

Youth Chat - Launch of State of the Youth Research
There are many ways to participate in political and civic life; casting your vote during a general election, volunteering 
in campaign work, contacting politicians, peaceful protest, advocating online and making donations are just some 
ways of civic engagement.

A worrying global issue is the lack of political participation of youth. It has been noted that in the past 2 decades, 
youth who are old enough to vote tend to do less than those outside the age bracket of youth demographic (18yrs 
old to 35yrs old).
Regardless of where in the world, members of youth from different communities have often felt or are seen as the 
undervalued members of society. There are many underlining factors that may contribute to that statement. We 
will uncover those elements in our next Youth Chat Group that is scheduled for Wednesday, 31 July.

Viliso Gadolo hosted the 2nd youth group chat for 2019 where the CCF State of the Youth Research titled Youth 
Participation in civic and civil life in Fiji was launched and was used as a catalyst for the facebook book live chat.

There were 2 segments and Vilisi spoke with Broderick Mervin, founder for Ignite for Change that is based in 
Lautoka, and Camari Serau who is a youth volunteer in Lautoka.

This Live broadcast provided a space where youth participants with a chance to freely share their interests and 
views about politics and the sources from which they obtain political information.
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Segment 1

Segment 2

TOP AUDIENCE: Women between 25yrs to 34yrs

TOTAL REACH: 703 views

VIEWERS: 48% men and 48% women

POST ENGAGEMENT: 100

TOP AUDIENCE: Men between 25yrs to 34yrs

TOTAL REACH: 937 views

VIEWERS: 54% men and 40% women

POST ENGAGEMENT: 128
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PRESS STATEMENT

Date: 23 July 2019

Call for Independent and Thorough Investigation - Alleged Prison Assault

The Citizens’ Constitutional Forum (CCF) calls for an immediate investigation on the alleged assault of a 20 year 
old remand prisoner at the Suva Remand Centre as reported by the Fiji Times on 19 July 2019.

The CCF has been notified of the circumstances surrounding the allegations made and we call for an independent 
and thorough investigation to be carried out without delay. We urge the Fiji Corrections Service and the Fiji Police 
Force to work swiftly with the Fiji Human Rights and Anti- Discrimination Commission in combating human 
rights violations of torture or cruel and degrading treatment.

The Constitution of the Republic of Fiji 2013 under section 11 guarantees every person the freedom from cruel and 
degrading treatment. Fiji has also ratified the United Nations Convention Against Torture (with reservations). It 
is understandable that those in remand centers await the determination of their cases however, no one including 
remandees should be subjected to torture or cruel and degrading treatment and the laws of Fiji reflects this.

We note that there are untold stories of torture and cruel or degrading treatment that some in Fiji have suffered or 
are still suffering and we encourage families and victims to talk to relevant authorities or civil society organizations 
that can provide advice or assistance. These types of behaviours take away the dignities of the victims.

The CCF welcomes the investigations carried out by the Fiji Police Force and the Fiji Human Rights and Anti-
Discrimination Commission and hopes that those found guilty in the assault allegations will be taken to task 
immediately.

ENDS



 AUGUST



AUGUST

CCF ANNUAL REPORT 2019CCF ANNUAL REPORT 2019

The CCF Policy Research and Research Officers - Lusia 
Lagilevu and Vilisi Gadolo are currently part of the 
29th Annual Human Rights and People’s Diplomacy 
Training Program for human rights defenders from the 
Asia-Pacific region. 

The two weeks forum is in Dili, Timor Leste and is 
organised by the Diplomacy Training Program (DTP) 
in partnership with Asian Forum for Human Rights 
and Development (Forum Asia) and Judicial System 
Monitoring Program (JSMP).

The Training is an annual event that provides a 
thorough course on human rights and advocacy. The 
Training teaches participants on international human 
rights standards and the United Nations system and 
skills in strategic advocacy. The sessions are intensive 
as they intend to cover mechanisms, international best 
practices on human rights, development, advocacy and 
media skills.

The Workshop was useful to both Vilisi (Research 
Officer) and I (Policy and Research Officer) in our 
respective roles for the following reasons:

•  The training helped us understand the critical work 
done by human rights defenders in the context of 
Timor Leste;

• We learned of strategies on lobbying and advocating 
that could well improve our human rights work here 
in Fiji;

• The human rights defenders sessions on security 
and media will be shared amongst our colleagues in 
Fiji for the purpose of protection;

• The human rights mechanisms that are available 
for human rights defenders regionally and 
internationally (Treaty Bodies, Special Rapporteurs, 
UPR, etc) will help us in terms of pushing our 
government to improve their work in areas of 
concern;

• The training also allowed us to appreciate the work 
that we do as human rights defenders upon learning 
of outcomes in certain case studies such as those in 
Timor Leste.

This training is highly recommended for staff or any 
human rights defender in terms of enhancing knowledge 
on advocacy, lobbying, regional and international 
mechanisms, case studies and lessons from other 
countries. It is also recommended noting that the DTP 
team are quite resourceful in widening networks in the 
area of human rights.

Our attendance in this training could not be made 
possible without the help and funding provided by the 
New Zealand Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade. We 
are so grateful that such initiatives by MFAT enables 
citizens from the Pacific to attend, learn, build and 
improve knowledge and skills in our various areas of 
profession.

DTP 29th Annual Human Rights & Peoples’ Diplomacy Training 
Program
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Inclusive Democratic Electoral Process in Fiji - Yale, Kadavu
Citizens’ Constitutional Forum through its Community 
Education team implemented its 2nd   Community 
workshop for District of Yale, on the island of Kadavu. 
The workshop was held at the Rakiraki village 
community hall on the 7th and 8th of August, 2019. 
The workshop focused on increasing community’s 
knowledge and understanding of democratic processes 
such as leadership to national processes such as 
election. Having the knowledge and skills will provide 
communities with the ability to engage and manage 
processes that they are directly involved in- whether it 
be development needs or leadership selection processes 
in their own community. 

The participants were from villages of the District 
of Yale which is made of 5 villages. The villages are 
Levuka, Naioti, Rakiraki, Nauciwai, and Gasele. The 
participants were males and females between 25years 
of age to 70years of age. There were 24 male and 12 
female participants with the total of 40 participants 
.The participants were the Village Headman from the 
4 villages, youth group leaders, women’s group leader, 
village development committee members and District 
Representatives. 

There was a good balance in the gender composition 
present in the workshop. 

The Kadavu Provincial Office officers were not able to 
be part of the workshop because of work commitment.

There was very little challenge to this workshop as 
the Roko Tui Kadavu and the Roko responsible for 
the District of Yale had attended a workshop for the 
Roko Tui and Assistant Roko Tui which the CCF 

Community Education Team facilitated on Human 
Rights, Constitution and Rights Based Approach to 
Development. 
They had requested for a similar kind of workshop to be 
held in the District of Yale and the Kadavu Provincial 
Office did a great job in organising the event in terms of 
participants, venue and catering.

A few comments from the participants with regards to 
the workshop and recommendations that were raised:

“A big thank you to CCF for organising this kind 
of workshop and bringing it to those of us in rural 
communities. At the end of this 2 day workshop, now 
I have come to know the reason why it is important 
to know and understand our rights and also the 
responsibilities that come with it”. (Youth participant 
from Gasele village.)

“I have attended workshops organised by the women’s 
organisation where they tell us about our rights but not 
much on the responsibility. I believe the reason why 
women are disrespecting their husbands is because they 
are interpreting their women’s right in the wrong way 
but that is the way we were told but now we know that 
women’s right is all about the protecting, respecting, 
loving and developing the lives of women and not about 
women trying to be like the head of family. Thank you 
CCF”. (Women’s Group President from Rakiraki Village)

“A big thank you to CCF for organising this workshop 
because now we understand that our rights are protected 
in our 2013 Constitution. ( Village Headman from 
Naioti)
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Inclusive Democratic Electoral Process in Fiji - Western Division Workshops

 Community Workshop for Sigatoka and Nadi
Citizens’ Constitutional Forum through its Community 
Education team implemented its 3RD   Community 
workshop for Sigatoka and Nadi area, which was held at 
Hexagon International Hotel on the 20th -21st of August, 
2019. The workshop focused on increasing community’s 
knowledge and understanding of democratic processes 
such as leadership to national processes such as 
election. Having the knowledge and skills will provide 
communities with the ability to engage and manage 
processes that they are directly involved in- whether it 
be development needs or leadership selection processes 
in their own community. 

The participants were from the Sigatoka and Nadi 
area. The participants were males and females between 
25years of age to 70years of age. There were 24 male and 
12 female participants with the total of 40 participants 
.The participants were the Village Headman from the 
villages in the Sigatoka and Nadi area, youth group 
leaders, women’s group leader, village development 
committee members and District Representatives. 
There was a good balance in the gender composition 
present in the workshop. The participants travelled to 
the workshop venue for the 2 days of the workshop

A few comments from the participants with regards to 
the workshop and recommendations that were raised:

“This workshop is really important and this kind of 
workshop should be taken all the communities in Fiji. 
Knowing and understanding human rights is important. 
This is the first time for me to hear that human rights 
is in our Constitution so that means that government 
should fulfil what is in our 2013 Constitution”.(Youth 
participant from Rukurukulevu village.)

“Thank you CCF for organising a workshop such as this 
and I believe that for us women that are present here 
today we now know why we have women’s right. It’s all 
about protecting, respecting and developing the lives of 
women. We need more of this kind of workshop and it 
should be carried out in all communities Fiji.” (Women’s 
Group President from Moala Village)

“A big thank you to CCF for organising this workshop 
because now we understand that our rights are 
protected in our 2013 Constitution but government 
is not following some the rights in the Constitution”.  
(Village Headman from Sabeto)

Recommendations from participants with regards to 
the workshop:

• A very useful and eye opener workshop but 
it would be great if the workshop was done in each 
individual village so that we have a good number of 
participants from each village to be part of the workshop 
so that majority of the people in the village can have the 
same understanding of Human Rights.
• In terms of the Village Development Plans, it 
would be great if government officers or a an officer 
form the Budget Division of the Ministry of Economy 
accompanies your team so that can inform the public 
the detail of how government does its budget. 
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Community Workshop for Lautoka and Ba area

Citizens’ Constitutional Forum through its 
Community Education team implemented 
its 4th   Community workshop for Lautoka 
and Ba area, which was held at Hexagon 
International Hotel on the 22nd -23rd of 
August, 2019. The workshop focused on 
increasing community’s knowledge and 
understanding of democratic processes such 
as leadership to national processes such as 
election. Having the knowledge and skills will 
provide communities with the ability to engage 
and manage processes that they are directly 
involved in- whether it be development needs 
or leadership selection processes in their own 
community. 

The participants were from the Lautoka and 
Ba area. The participants were males and 
females between 25years of age to 70years 
of age. There were 24 male and 12 female 
participants with the total of 40 participants’ 
.The participants were the Village Headman 
from the villages in the Sigatoka and Nadi area, 
youth group leaders, women’s group leader, 
village development committee members and 
District Representatives. There was a good 
balance in the gender composition present 
in the workshop. The participants travelled 
to the workshop venue for the 2 days of the 
workshop. Majority of the participants were 
from Itaukei villages of Viseisei, Lauwaki, 
Lomolomo, Namoli, Vitogo, Naviyago, 
Vakabuli and Matawalu.

A few comments from the participants with 
regards to the workshop and recommendations 
that were raised:

“Thank you CCF for having this workshop 
on Human Rights because it’s an issue in our 
communities and with our children. Now we 
understand why Human Rights awareness 

is very important and it needs to be done in 
each villages and communities in Fiji. (Iva 
Mere, Women’s Group Leader).

“A big thank you to CCF for organising 
this workshop because now we understand 
that our rights are protected in our 2013 
Constitution but government is not following 
some the rights in the Constitution”. ( Village 
Headman from Naviyago)

Recommendations from participants with 
regards to the workshop:

• CCF should have more of this kind of 
workshop but it would really be nice if it is in 
each village.

• The Village Development Plan part 
of the workshop is a really good component 
but we need to empower the people to take 
ownership of it through training village 
development committees to carry out the 
necessary tasks to put in reality what is in the 
Village Development Plan.

Inclusive Democratic Electoral Process in Fiji - Western Division Workshops
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LOUCHRISHA APPOINTED AS NEW CEO

The Citizens’ Constitutional Forum (CCF) announces that its board of directors has appointed Louchrisha 
Hussain as Chief Executive Officer effectively immediately. Hussain previously held the position of programme 
manager for the organisation.

CCF board chairperson Tessa Mackenzie believes there is no better person to lead the CCF in its duty to promote 
and protect human rights in this country. “Louchrisha is clearly the right person to lead CCF and she has the 
unanimous support of our board,” said Mackenzie.

“The board was fortunate to have so many-well qualified applicants for the position that was advertised in the 
media, and with a thoughtful approach to our donors, partners and employees expected and deserved.”

“Louchrisha has been a proven leader for the organisation since joining in 2015 and has shown good vision and 
ability to bring people to work together in the different program areas within the organisation. We are content 
that we’ve appointed a strong person to lead the CCF going forward,” added Mackenzie.

Since joining CCF, Hussain has progressed through the organisation as project support officer, to eventually be-
ing promoted as programme manager where she carefully articulated CCFs program strategy and objectives that 
are aligned to the organisation’s vision and mission.

Hussain who graduated with a Bachelor of Art in Political Science from Brigham Young University – Hawaii has 
extensive experience in similar roles with other local NGO’s and has been in the civil society sector for 7 years. 
She looks forward to taking CCF into its next chapter.

“I am honored to be appointed to this new role. It is indeed a privilege to lead a young and dynamic team that 
has a passion for educating and promoting human rights in Fiji,” said Hussain.

“We are a team led by purpose – to make a positive change in Fiji communities that we work with. I intend to do 
my best to in helping our communities understand their basic fundamental human rights.”
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Internship Experience with CCF

Being a Research Intern at CCF 
is what I consider a “Privilege 
that exceeds expectations”. The 
amount of valuable people and 
support I have access to is just 
extraordinary. This helps me 
with the technical knowledge 
and prunes me to adapt to the 
workforce environment. There 
is always enough room for 
learning new things and one 
of the amazing things at CCF 
is that there’s always the right 
timing and the right people 
with the right environment for 
adjustment. 
 
It’s more about people, every-
one is treated the same from 
the most senior staff to the 
young one. Meeting new people 
makes the work interesting and 
I cherish the work that I learn 
here and the skills I acquire 
which 90% of it is not taught in 
University but learned through 
commitment driven by the pas-
sion to learn and grow. 

CCF has given me the oppor-
tunity to apply my studies of 
Political Science, Intercultural 
Peacebuilding, and Anthropol-
ogy in the field all while gaining 
practical skills in any workplace. 
This synergy between academ-
ics and fieldwork has solidified 
my dreams of working for an 
NGO as a future career. Most 
importantly, it has taught me 
what kind of people I want to 
work with. CCF runs success-
fully due to its devoted and 
tenacious staff who work not 
as individuals but as one team. 
Every member of its team is 
vital to the organization’s great 
success. The relationships built 
within the office are contagious 
and often spread beyond the 
walls of 23 Denison Road and 
into the community. I was able 
to be a part of this while travel-
ing with the CCF to Nadi to 
help facilitate and teach Human 
Rights Workshops. It was amaz-
ing to see a culture of under-
standing and empathy grow 
each day among the partici-
pants of the workshops. ActiveX 
listening and teaching were 
vital tools in making a sustain-
able impact. Most importantly, 
I have come to learn that CCF 
sides with the people of Fiji 
above anything else, and I am 
grateful and proud be able to 
stand with them during this last 
month. Vinaka vakalevu CCF 
and Aloha ‘Oe!

Adriannah Metta Culture 
and International Peace 
Intern BYUH I interned for 
the Citizen Constitutional 
Forum of Fiji in the summer 
of 2019.

It was an eye opener and a 
wonderful learning process. 
During my time I was as-
signed to identify the signifi-
cance of human rights and 
the impacts of leaders in the 
2016-2018 Fiji Parliamentary 
Hansards. I also learned the 
importance of building peace 
within the work organiza-
tion and see the efforts of 
outreach by the members of 
the organization. My intern 
at the Citizen Constitutional 
forum of Fiji not only helped 
me gain a new set of Fam-
ily members but helped me 
learned the importance of 
understanding your right as a 
citizen of your country.

Ilikini Bulidama Gabe Stock Adriannah Metta
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Constitution Day Day Quiz

In commemorating Constitution Day, the Citizens’ 
Constitutional Forum (CCF) held a quiz night in Nadi 
on Friday evening, September 6th, at the Hexagon 
International Hotel, Villas & Spa Conference Room – 
Martintar, Nadi.

The quiz night was an activity where questions were 
based around the 2013 Fiji Constitution – more so 
with Human Rights as interpreted in the Bill of Rights 
where the theme of the event was “Understand your 
Constitution”.

The activity that was funded the European Union and 
Bread for the World – Germany, was implemented last 
year in Suva, and this is the first time representatives 
from the west media, civil society organisations and 
youth groups had a chance to test their knowledge on 
Fiji’s Constitution.

CCF Chief Executive Officer (CEO), Louchrisha Hus-
sain, said this activity helps the organisation achieve 
our main activity objective which is to create aware-
ness on Fiji’s 2013 Constitution – especially section 2 
which is our comprehensive Bill of Rights.

She said CCF introduced this activity to promote 

interest, awareness and understanding of our Constitu-
tion and also to further CCF’s broad aim to continue 
the work of advocacy on this important book. The 
implementation of the quiz series also complements 
our civic education workshops at community level 
which advocates and educates communities on Human 
Rights and specifically the 2013 Fiji Constitution.

“For CCF historically commemorating Constitution 
Day is an ideal platform for education purposes and 
the creation of dialogue with multiple stakeholders 
around policies. It also clarifies the purpose of the day 
to people that may not understand or have misconcep-
tions around the day celebrated,” said the CCF’s newly 
appointed CEO.
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“CCF wishes to stress the importance of reading and understanding our Constitution as this consists of our 
country’s rules or laws which determine the form of our government and outlines respective rights and duties of 
the State towards the citizens and of the citizens towards the State. Simply put, this means that this book contains 
a guideline / standard on how we should carry ourselves as responsible citizens but also how we should treat one 
another with dignity,” said Hussain.

This activity complements CCF’s civic education workshops at community level which advocates and educates 
communities on Human Rights and specifically the 2013 Fiji Constitution.
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The Citizens’s Constitutional Forum (CCF) is calling 
on all leaders of Fiji to respect the human rights 
of its citizens as we commemorate International 
Day of Democracy with this year’s theme being 
“Participation”.

The theme ‘participation’ is a fitting reminder that true 
democracy is on that is founded on inclusiveness and 
meaningful participation. The theme holds true to the 
work of the CCF in promoting good governance by 
educating communities to focus on dialogue and inclu-
sion of all stakeholders in any decision making process, 
whether it be in our communities, local government or 
the state.

‘Governance’ means the process of decision making 
and the process by which decisions are implemented 
(or not implemented).

The Universal Declaration of Human Rights states in 
Article 21(1) that: “Everyone has the right to take part 
in the government of his country, directly or through 
meaningful, active and significant participation in the 
democratic processes. These democratic processes may 
not be known by all citizens in Fiji hence to encourage 
participation, the state needs to first educate and keep 
people informed on the mechanisms available.

However, the responsibility falls on us to ensure par-
ticipation does not rest with the State alone. The CCF 
through its work also encourages the concept of active 
citizenry. Citizens must take the opportunity to engage 
in the democratic processes at different levels and in 
different ways. People have the opportunity to exercise 
their rights ad responsibilities to engage in democratic 
processes. This includes at the very minimum, inform-
ing yourself about the issues of national interest and 
being aware of policies that affect citizens.

Public participation is a foundation on which democ-
racy rests. It helps build strong democratic parliaments 
which contribute further to ensuring that peace, devel-
opment and respect for human rights.

Meaningful public participation is an important prin-
ciple of governance. It is based on the confidence that 
everyone who is affected by a policy decision has the 
rights to be involved in the decision making process, 
notably at various levels. For meaningful participation 
to be effective, there also needs to be space for civil 
society to actively operate and keep the State account-
able.
CCF calls for good governance practices that will 
enable responsible and responsive governments and 
organisations. This will help leaders make the rights 
decision with the most effective outcomes for our com-
munities.

We believe that an important component that must 
be upheld in any democracy is human rights we must 
respect others regardless of their ethnicity, religious be-
liefs, their gender or sexual orientation; and give them 
a chance to responsibly say and write what they think.

CCF“
CALLS
FOR

GOOD
GOVERNANCE

International Democracy Day

Press Release 
Date: 15th September, 2019
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Citizens’ Constitutional Forum through its Commu-
nity Education team implemented its 5th   Community 
workshop in the District of Kubulau, in the province 
of Bua. The workshop which was held at the Namalata 
Village community hall on the 16th and 17th of Sep-
tember, 2019. The workshop focused on increasing 
community’s knowledge and understanding of demo-
cratic processes such as leadership to national process-
es such as election. Having the knowledge and skills 
will provide communities with the ability to engage 
and manage processes that they are directly involved 
in- whether it be development needs or leadership 
selection processes in their own community. 

The participants were from villages of the District of 
Kubulau which is made of 10 villages. The villages in 
the District of Kubulau are Raviravi, Namalata, Navatu, 
Natokalau, Waisa, Nakorovou, Kilaka, Nadivakarua, 
Kiobo and Nasasaivua. The participants were males 
and females between 25years of age to 70years of age. 
There were 24 male and 12 female participants with the 
total of 46 participants .The participants were the Vil-
lage Headman from the 4 villages, youth group leaders, 
women’s group leader, village development committee 
members and District Representatives. There was a 
good balance in the gender composition present in the 
workshop. 

Relevant outputs:

The output that was put forward was achieved and the 
response from the participants that were interviewed 
showed the need for more of this kind of workshop. 

A few recommendations that were raised by the par-
ticipants:

➢ To have a 2013 Constitution workshop where 
we the people are explained about the content of the 
2013 Constitution.
➢ Before communities are asked to make sub-
missions for say a Bill that is before parliament can 
there be a session carried out by the government by 
using social media, radio and television to explain the 
content of the Bill so that we know what it that we are 
making submission about is. Government should have 
Bills awareness in Fijian communities and this should 

Based on the pre-evaluation and post evaluation as-
sessment that was answered by the participants given 
below is a tabulated analysis of their response:

Pre-Evaluation Result.
Based on the pre-evaluation result, questions on hu-
man rights showed that most of the participants’ had 
very little knowledge. 90% of the participants agreed 
that human rights violates or goes against the culture 
and traditions of Itaukei communities .Questions on 
election showed that 100 % of the participants under-
stand the election in terms of having only one constitu-
ency, 18 years above can vote, registration electronical-
ly and election after every 4 years. On the other hand, 
responses to questions about the 2013 Constitution 
showed that 95% of the participants have little under-
standing of the constitution in terms of what is the 
constitution, the content of the constitution, human 
rights and the constitution and the 5% have a good 
idea of what the 2013 Constitution is about.

Post Evaluation Results
From the post evaluation results showed a change 
in the responses. 100% of the participants after the 
workshop that human rights does not violate tradition 
or culture but it respects it. Human rights is all about 
respecting ones dignity and treating everybody equally 
and allowing women, youths and children to partici-
pate in village/community decision making process. In 
terms of the 2013 Constitution from the 95% who had 
very little understanding of the constitution decreases 
to 0%. This shows that they now know what the 2013 
Constitution is about in terms of the general explana-
tion of the constitution.

Inclusive Democratic Electoral 
Process in Fiji - Bua Workshop

CCF ANNUAL REPORT 2019
75

SEPTEMBER



CCF ANNUAL REPORT 2019
76

SEPTEMBER

Based on the pre-evaluation and post evaluation assessment that was answered by the participants given below is 
a tabulated analysis of their response:

Pre-Evaluation Result.
Based on the pre-evaluation result, questions on human rights showed that most of the participants’ had very 
little knowledge. 90% of the participants agreed that human rights violates or goes against the culture and tradi-
tions of Itaukei communities .Questions on election showed that 100 % of the participants understand the elec-
tion in terms of having only one constituency, 18 years above can vote, registration electronically and election 
after every 4 years. On the other hand, responses to questions about the 2013 Constitution showed that 95% of 
the participants have little understanding of the constitution in terms of what is the constitution, the content of 
the constitution, human rights and the constitution and the 5% have a good idea of what the 2013 Constitution is 
about.

Post Evaluation Results
From the post evaluation results showed a change in the responses. 100% of the participants after the workshop 
that human rights does not violate tradition or culture but it respects it. Human rights is all about respecting 
ones dignity and treating everybody equally and allowing women, youths and children to participate in village/
community decision making process. In terms of the 2013 Constitution from the 95% who had very little under-
standing of the constitution decreases to 0%. This shows that they now know what the 2013 Constitution is about 
in terms of the general explanation of the constitution.
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Citizens’ Constitutional Forum through its Community 
Education team implemented its 6th   Community 
workshop in the District of Vuna, in the province of 
Cakaudrove. The workshop which was held at the 
Navakawau Village community hall on the 1st and 
2nd of October, 2019. The workshop focused on 
increasing community’s knowledge and understanding 
of democratic processes such as leadership to national 
processes such as election. Having the knowledge and 
skills will provide communities with the ability to engage 
and manage processes that they are directly involved in- 
whether it be development needs or leadership selection 
processes in their own community. 

The participants were from villages of the District 
of Vuna which is made of 3 villages. The villages in 
the District of Kubulau are Nakorovou, Kanacea, and 
Navakawau. The participants were males and females 
between 25years of age to 70years of age. There were 
24 male and 12 female participants with the total of 46 
participants .The participants were the Village Headman 
from the 3 villages, youth group leaders, women’s group 
leader, village development committee members, village 
community health worker and District Representatives. 
There was a good balance in the gender composition 
present in the workshop. 

Based on the pre-evaluation and post evaluation 
assessment that was answered by the participants given 
below is a tabulated analysis of their response:

Pre-Evaluation Result.
Based on the pre-evaluation result, questions on human 
rights showed that most of the participants’ had very little 
knowledge. 25 % of the participants agreed that human 
rights violates or goes against the culture and traditions 
of Itaukei communities, 36 % think otherwise while 
39% have little knowledge of human rights .Questions 
on election showed that 100 % of the participants 
understand the election in terms of having only one 
constituency, 18 years above can vote, registration 
electronically and election after every 4 years. On the 
other hand, responses to questions about the 2013 
Constitution showed that 95% of the participants have 
little understanding of the constitution in terms of 
what is the constitution, the content of the constitution, 
human rights and the constitution and the 5% have a 

good idea of what the 2013 Constitution is about.

Post Evaluation Results
From the post evaluation results showed a change in the 
responses. 100% of the participants after the workshop 
that human rights does not violate tradition or culture 
but it respects it. Human rights is all about respecting 
ones dignity and treating everybody equally and 
allowing women, youths and children to participate in 
village/community decision making process. In terms of 
the 2013 Constitution from the 95% who had very little 
understanding of the constitution decreases to 0%. This 
shows that they now know what the 2013 Constitution 
is about in terms of the general explanation of the 
constitution.

Inclusive Democratic Electoral Process in Fiji - Taveuni Workshop
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2019 Dublin Platform for Human Rights Defenders at Risk

The 2019 Dublin Platform for Human Rights Defend-
ers at Risk willprovide a truly unique opportunity for 
100 human rights defenders,from every corner of the 
globe, to come together to share experiences,learn 
from one another, discuss relevant issues and engage 
with over100 decision makers from national and inter-
national organisations and
intergovernmental bodies.

Front Line – the International Foundation for the Pro-
tection of Human Rights Defenders was launched in 
Dublin, Ireland on the 22nd February 2001 with the 
specific aim of protecting human rightsdefenders at 
risk. Human rights defenders are people who, individu-
ally or collectively, work peacefully on behalf of others 
to promote and defend internationally recognised hu-
man rights. 

The Dublin Platform for Human Rights Defenders has 
previously been held in 2002, 2003, 2005, 2007, 2010, 
2011, 2013, 2015 and 2017; each of these occasions 
brought together over 100 human rights defenders at 
risk from over 80 countries around the world.

The Dublin platform gave human rights defenders the 
opportunity to share their experiences, learnings and 
also personal stories. These sessions were intense and 
heavy. There were a number of personal testimonies 
(e.g. acid attacks, detention and extreme harassment) 
where I had to excuse myself as it was difficult and ex-

tremly hard to
comprehend and absorb.

The organizers also created outlet rooms for counsel-
ing, IT services, yoga, meditation rooms that were open 
to all attendees. These were optional and available to 
all. The outlet rooms ran simultaneously along the big 
plenary meetings, which was a great idea for those that 
needed timeout from the plenary discussions and testi-
monial sessions.

This also indicates the importance of having a work life 
balance especially in this sector and with the work in-
volved. Going forward we (CCF) need to prioritise self-
care as one of the many ways to keep a work life balance.

The workshop is useful as it gave me a sense of the in-
creasingly growing threat on human rights defend-
ers from around the world. The issues were similar in 
the sense that governments were behaving similarly in 
clamping down on civil society work placing legal re-
strictions as attempts to control civil society. 

The difference however was clear in the extent to which 
human rights activists and defenders were constantly 
harassed as a number of personal stories were seriously 
extreme where the lives of human rights defenders
were at risk, whereas other countries weren’t so extreme.
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Inclusive Democratic Electoral Process in Fiji - Rotuma Workshop

A team from the Citizen’s Constitutional Forum is in 
Rotuma to conduct workshops at the Noatau commu-
nity hall today and tomorrow (Tuesday) with the aim at 
enhancing the participants knowledge of their human 
rights.

Key message for today is:

“Human Rights are there to protect you and you must 
respect the rights of others”.

CCF carries out community education workshops in 
rural, peri urban and urban communities. The com-
munity education and advocacy workshop is aimed at 
increasing the knowledge of participants in democratic 
processes inclusive of local governance and national 
level processes such as elections. Through the knowl-
edge and skills sharing, members of a community will 
be able to engage in discussions concerning develop-
ment needs and decision making. CCF has carried 
out community education workshops in the provinces 
of Serua, Namosi, Naitasiri, Tailevu, Cakaudrove, Bua 
and the island of Rotuma. The community education 
workshops will be guided by the CCF community edu-
cation manual and curriculum. CCF uses an inclusive 
approach in its education and advocacy activities by en-
gaging young people, women, gender minority groups 
and other marginalized groups in its activities.

CCF will work with local government representatives 

(Provincial Officers) to build their capacity in terms of 
providing direct support to learning and understand-
ing processes and spaces in order for communities to 
engage.

Aim:
To advocate and educate community members on their 
constitutional rights on pre and post-election.

Objectives:
At the end of the community education workshop par-
ticipants should be able to understand:
1. Their constitutional rights do not end following 
an election but continues.
2. How standing committees work – responsibil-
ity.
3. Democratic processes which range from local 
level to national processes.

Community Education Workshop contents:
The contents of the workshop are:

1. Citizens’ Right and Democracy.
2. Human Rights.
3. Constitution
4. Human Rights Based to Development
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National Public Forum - Suva
Thematic Perspectives on the Current System of Democracy in Fiji.”

The National Public Forum (NPF) was a panel 
discussion on the theme; “Thematic Perspectives on the 
Current System of Democracy in Fiji.” The Forum was 
held as a two series event with the first that was held in 
Suva on 1 November 2019. 

The first NPF was moderated by a seasoned journalist; 
Stanley Simpson who was tasked with moderating 
the event especially in terms of asking the panellists 
the relevant questions on the topics concerned. The 
principle that was discussed along with the theme 
and sessions in the first forum was that of democratic 
accountability.  

The panel of the first forum included: Dr. Gordon 
Nanau (USP Senior Lecturer), Vani Catanasiga (FCOSS 
Executive Director), Tevita Vuibau (Consumer Council 
of Fiji) and Lynda Tabuya (Member of Parliament 
(MP) - Opposition) and  moderated by a seasoned 
journalist, Stanley Simpson. The topics of discussion 
at both forums included; accessibility to information, 
accessibility and quality delivery of public services and 
constructive engagements with elected representatives 
in Parliament.

The first NPF included community members from 
Serua, Lautoka and Kadavu. These participants were 
involved in CCF’s community education activities and 
they participated during the Forum through questions 
posed to panellists on their experiences considering 
the topics of discussion. The participants were able 
to network with the panellists at the event as well. 

The participants heard from panellists who shared 
knowledge on constructive ways to engage with their 
elected representatives and the responsibility on all 
regarding democratic accountability. This contributed 
to CCF’s hopes of strengthening engagements between 
people and their elected representatives.  

communities within the Central and Western Division 
were identified with the help of CCF’s community 
education team who had been conducting activities 
in such areas. Their participation at the NPF in Suva 
was critical as they were in the best position to provide 
the perspective of democratic accountability in the 
community level and the challenges experienced. The 
CCF had also invited members of parliament from both 
Cabinet and Opposition to participate as panellists. 
In preparing for attendance of MPs as panellist, our 
correspondences were made through the Speaker of 
Parliament of Fiji, MPs who were invited as well as a 
Party Secretary for FijiFirst (as advised by a previously 
invited MP). 

A challenge that CCF experienced during the 
organising of the first Forum was the unavailability 
and unresponsiveness of members of Cabinet to attend 
as a panelist. The CCF had exhausted all avenues (as 
mentioned above) in its attempts to have a balanced 
representation of Parliament from both Cabinet and 
Opposition. However, these attempts were futile.                
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Financial Management for Development 
Professionals (FMD Pro) in Bangkok, 
Thailand

NGOCHR West Papua Peace March

The training in Bangkok gave us an incredible op-
portunity and platform to network with Bangkok’s 
local and regional NGOs and international NGO’s 
that were present as well as the chance to exchange 
opinions and perspectives on finance management 
systems in different organizations and the integral 
role a good financial management system plays in 
strengthening an organization’s portfolio and how 
this in turn , helps to develop funding strategies in 
a move towards NGOs becoming more financially 
sustainable.

We also found that it was somewhat of a reflection 
on how well CCF has progressed towards adopting 
best practice mechanisms with a close focus on how 
policy-making sets the foundation for strong finan-
cial management. 

Apart from this, a large part of the training had a 
hands-on technical or practical approach that looked 
at planning, budgeting, monitoring/tracking and re-
porting that we are looking to share through the Fi-
nancial Literacy Guide.

Throughout the training week, we also had a fair 
measure of the intrinsic satisfaction derived from 
engaging in the NGO dimension of work, even in a 
finance role. A majority of the participants were fi-
nance personnel that had a lot to share on how their 
work has helped them grow, both professionally and 
personally, and how capacity building makes a sig-
nificant contribution in developing capable people to 
further the good work of their respective organiza-
tions.
                                                                                                             

The NGO Coalition on Human Rights (NGOCHR) in a 
press statement yesterday reiterated “... the call by our Pa-
cific Islands Leaders during their Forum Leaders meeting 
in Tuvalu in August 2019 for immediate intervention by 
the United Nations and a visit by the Human Rights Com-
missioner to West Papua.”

“The latest update on the number of deaths in West Papua 
reported by SBS news on 25th September recorded that 32 
West Papuans have died...The current pattern of evacua-
tion and military deployment in Wamena is being linked 
the 2000 bloodshed creating a deep sense of fear among 
the people”.

Today the NGO Coalition on Human Rights walked in 
solidarity for the rights of our West Papua sisters and 
brothers and observed 20 minutes of silence for the lives 
lost as a result of ongoing bloodshed in West Papua.
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NGOCHR PR: Emergency Alert on Humanitarian Crises and the Need for UN Intervention 
to West Papua Now

1/10/19

The NGO Coalition on Human Rights (NGOCHR) reiterate the call by our Pacific Islands Leaders during their 
Forum Leaders meeting in Tuvalu in August 2019 for immediate intervention by the United Nations and a visit by 
the Human Rights Commissioner to West Papua.

Chair of the Coalition Nalini Singh says “The Coalition has been reliably informed that –

• Since 19th August anti-racism protests in West Papua continues to increase escalation of the military and 
police violence against civilians particularly against indigenous West Papuans students, youths, women and men.
• On the 17th of September the Civil Society Coalition- Papua for All (Ko Masi Papua) reported on the 
increased arbitrary arrests of 99 named suspects: 39 people in Jayapura, 8 people in Timika Regency, 16 people in 
Deiyai Regency, 19 people in Manokwari Regency, 14 in Sorong City and 3 people in Fakfak Regency.
• On the 23rd of September in Jayapura about 733 exodus students from Java were arrested because of their 
peaceful protest against racism, at least four students were killed. According to Jubi the local newspaper in West 
Papua they reported that 727 students were released the next day however 6 students are still being locked up at 
the Brimob Headquarters in Jayapura.
• On the same day (23rd of September) High School students of Wamena organised a peaceful protest against 
the act of racism by one of their school teacher. The students marched to the head of the Regency office where the 
Police and Military attacked them with gunshots and tear gas resulting in 33 civilians including students being 
killed and some were burned alive. It is unclear how many more victims were killed in Wamena and this is because 
the access of communication and transportation were closed down.

She adds that “The latest update on the number of deaths in West Papua reported by SBS news on 25th September 
recorded that 32 West Papuans have died...The current pattern of evacuation and military deployment in Wamena 
is being linked the 2000 bloodshed creating a deep sense of fear among the people”.

“The NGOCHR having supported the cause for a free West Papua as a matter of Human Rights joins with voices 
of Fiji Civil Society organisations to raise the same urgent call from the people of West Papua who have predicted 
that if no immediate action and intervention is taken in Wamena, West Papua then our silence has contributed to 
the loss of their lives”.

“We again reiterate the call by our Pacific Islands Leaders during their Forum Leaders meeting in Tuvalu in August 
2019 for an immediate intervention by the United Nations and a visit by the Human Rights Commissioner to West 
Papua.

We urge the Fiji Islands Government to immediately take action on this Alert by responding to the deteriorating 
human rights situation in West Papua”, Singh said.

Ends
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The National Public Forum (NPF) was a panel 
discussion on the theme; “Thematic Perspectives on 
the Current System of Democracy in Fiji.” The second 
NPF was held in Labasa, Vanua Levu and it was again 
moderated by Stanley Simpson noting his relevant 
experience in engaging panellists regarding sensitive 
topics of discussion such as democratic accountability 
in Fiji.  The panellists included; H.E. Ambassador Sujiro 
Seam, Vani Catanasiga, Nanise Veikoso (Regional 
Coordinator – Consumer Council of Fiji), Dr. Gordon 
Nanau, Mosese Bulitavu (Member of Parliament- 
Opposition) and  Vishwa Deo (Deputy Commissioner 
Northern). The topics of discussion at both forums 
included; accessibility to information, accessibility and 
quality delivery of public services and constructive 
engagements with elected representatives in Parliament. 

As per the first NPF, CCF’s community education team 
assisted with identifying communities who would be 
critical in attending in such a platform. The Second 
Forum included participants from Taveuni, Bua and 
Rabi who were previously involved in the activities 
conducted by the CCF’s community education team. 
Other participants included residents of Labasa and 
Savusavu a few of whom were persons with disabilities. 
Participants posed questions to panellists on village/
community issues such as developments, access to 
services and cost of living. The attendance of the 
Deputy Commissioner Northern provided some clarity 
on democratic accountability within their offices and 
services provided to the public. Again, in this forum, 

participants were informed on ways in which they could 
engage with their elected representatives.
The CCF was fortunate to have a member of Opposition 
who was currently conducting works in the northern 
division hence was available for the event. Unfortunately, 
we were not able to have a member of cabinet available 
at the second NPF due to unavailability or simply 
unresponsiveness to our invitations as per the first NPF. 

A similar challenge to the first forum was experienced in 
the second NPF. The CCF was unable to have a member 
of parliament from cabinet although all avenues were 
exhausted. However, the CCF was able to arrange for 
the attendance of a representative of the Commissioner 
Northern to provide some balance especially in terms 
of government services. A finalised transcription of 
the two forums will be provided to stakeholders of the 
events.

National Public Forum - Labasa
Thematic Perspectives on the Current System of Democracy in Fiji.”
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Fijis CSOs Look to the UPR: Spotlight on Fiji’s Human Rights Record at the UN Human Rights 
Council

Press Release: 07 November, 2019

Fiji’s human rights record will be reviewed by UN member states for the third time on 06 November 2019 (today) 
through the Universal Periodic Review (UPR) process. Civil society organisations (CSOs) in Fiji are keenly 
watching the State as it delivers its report on the status of human rights and fundamental freedoms in Fiji.

The UPR is a unique State driven process, which involves a review of the human rights records of all UN Member 
States, under the auspices of the United Nations Human Rights Council. UPR provides the opportunity for each 
State to declare what actions they have taken to improve the human rights situations in their countries and to fulfill 
their human rights obligations. At the same time, the Fiji government also reports on how it has implemented the 
113 accepted recommendations from the total of 138 recommendations made at the second UPR in 2014.

The CSO UPR Working Group states that not much has translated into meaningful change on the ground since the 
last review in 2014. Instead, the State has engaged in activities that have led to further violations of human rights. 
The past four years has been challenging as Fijians continue to face violations and repression, and these have been 
documented and shared with the UN member states and other stakeholders as part of the 3rd UPR.

The Right to be Free From Violence and Access to Justice:

There is a deteriorating situation of law and order in Fiji. We have seen violence perpetuated from the highest 
offices of the country, to every day violent muggings in the streets and rampant cyber bullying. In the past few 
months we have seen 9 deaths directly due to domestic violence. There are high numbers of sexual assault and 
rape of women and girls on a monthly basis. Sexual harassment in the workplace is high with little compliance to 
national regulations.

Right to Equality and Freedom from Discrimination:

Cultural norms and practices still restrict women and transgender persons from fully practicing agency and 
autonomy in traditional settings. This leads to heavy moral policing of women, girls, trans and non-binary and 
gender diverse women and has led to violence against women.

Freedom of Assembly and Freedom of Expression:

Workers and union rights must be upheld. There has to be an immediate stop to the systematic police and army 
crackdown on trade union activities, which includes demanding for a review of the minimum wage and their right 
to march peacefully. All charges against workers and trade unionists targeted for their union activities must be 
dropped. All police and army abuses against workers and trade unionists must be investigated to hold to account 
those responsible and provide adequate and timely redress for victims. The Public Order Act (2017) must not be 
used to curtail the fundamental freedoms of those organisations that are working to protect human rights for all.

Prohibition of torture and cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment:

There are still cases of torture by the security forces, which have caused death and disability of people and we do 
not see any move from the State to transpose UN Convention Against Torture domestically. We have recently seen 
a case of the military stepping into the role of the Police whereby the victim was a 16 year old child. 
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The Corrections Department seems to operate without adherence to protocols and display double standards, 
such as in the recent case of allowing a convicted rapist to engage in sporting activities within one week of his 
imprisonment. The State cannot act with impunity, as they must display the highest standards of rule of law and 
accountability.

Right to Health and Right of Persons living with Disabilities:

Sexual and reproductive health and rights (SRHR) is of concern for women, people living with disabilities and 
the LGBTQI community. Fiji has very high rates of cervical cancer and breast cancer. There is a high number 
of teenage pregnancies, lack of access to quality sexual and reproductive health services and information. There 
is lack of information and support for mental health survivors in Fiji who are a particularly disempowered and 
vulnerable group, subjected to forms of violence that are often undocumented. Directly related to mental health 
issues is the emerging concern of suicide.

Climate Change & Environmental Protection:

As we face the brunt of climate change, we see the State’s lip service to engaging the most affected communities, 
whereby they are not been meaningfully consulted when they are relocated. National policies and laws need to be 
consulted and debated on robustly, but we see such spaces being limited to few organisations only. Free and prior 
consent from resource owners are not taken in a meaningful way when engaging with foreign developers who get 
away with the senseless destruction of our fragile ecosystems.

In relation to the Human Rights and Anti-Discrimination Commission:

The Fiji Human Rights and Anti-Discrimination Commission, the body responsible to investigate and resolve 
complaints about alleged breaches of human rights, recently published Annual Reports from 2016 – 2018. The 
much-awaited reports contain the total number of complaints received. However, the UPR CSO Working Group 
states that the Commission must report on the outcomes or status of all investigations. This is imperative to ensure 
transparency and accountability of the Commission. Additionally, the Commission must take necessary steps to 
become Paris Principle compliant and independent.

At this 34th session of the UPR, the Fiji UPR CSO Working Group strongly calls on the Fiji government to use 
this opportunity to accurately reflect on and use this opportunity to improve human rights and freedoms in the 
country for all. We also call on the international community to use this opportunity to make recommendations to 
expand the democratic space in the country. We the civil society will be watching you.

———————————————-ENDS———————————————————

The live feed for the 34th Session of the Universal Periodic Review (UPR): Review of Fiji here:
8pmFJ Times

http://webtv.un.org/live-now/watch/30th-session-of-universal-periodic-review-/5708657554001

The Fiji UPR CSO Working Group comprises of 12 national CSO organisations and includes Citizens’ 
Constitutional Forum (CCF), Fiji Women’s Rights Movement (FWRM), Fiji Women’s Crisis Centre (FWCC), 4 
Save the Children Fiji (SCF), The Ecumenical Centre for Research Education and Advocacy (ECREA), Social 
Empowerment Education Programme (SEEP), Fiji Disabled People’s Federation (FDPF), 8 Fiji Council of Social 
Services (FCOSS), Rainbow Pride Foundation (RPF), Bua Urban Youth Network (BUYN), Haus of Khameleon 
(HK), and The Fiji Trades Union Congress (FTUC).
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We set out yesterday on the freedom buses after the 16 
days march in Suva. We were all psyched up after the 
march, eager to be on our way. Fifty plus women on two 
buses on their way around Viti Levu, stopping over in 
Lautoka for two nights. This is the result of two months 
of planning by the Management Collective of DIVA for 
equality and her CSO partners, CCF included. As we 
create awareness about ending gender based violence, 
about solidarity and referring women to help available 
to them, we are talking about freedom for women’s 
bodies linked to bodily autonomy and liberation in our 
relationships, our families and our work places. We are 
encouraging not only women but everyone that it is 
our responsibility to speak out when we experience or 
are witnesses to forms of violence committed against 
women and girls.

We stopped at Lepanoni (Deuba), at Sigatoka and 
Saweni Beach, Nadi to pay our respects to Mere Ailevu, 
to Maria, to Xena and Sylvia. We spoke their names and 
honoured their lives. Lives that were cut short because of 
violence committed on their bodies by perpetrators that 
shall not be named.

“We must be stronger, more bold, clearer and visionary 
in all shared work to end all forms of sexual and gender 
based violence, against women, girls, gender non 
conforming people, and everyone. Its important to be 
clear as feminists and women human rights defenders 
on the misgynist (irrational fear and hatred of women) 
and patriarchal roots at the heart of gender based 
violence, in Fiji and everywhere. We must end this in 
our generation.” - Noelene Nabulivou DIVA

NOVEMBER
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Freedom Bus - 16 Days of Activism
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The NGO Coalition on Human Rights (NGOCHR) strongly condemns the recent killings of women by their 
intimate partners in Fiji.

The NGOCHR notes with dismay that 7 women have lost their lives due to gender-based violence, where the 
perpetrators are all men. This is a grave violation of women and girls’ fundamental human rights, which is also 
enshrined in Fiji’s Constitution under Section 11(2). Women and girls have the right to security, to be free from 
all forms of violence from any source whether it is home, school or work. Fiji is committed to implementing the 
Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women (CEDAW) and Beijing Platform 
for Action- both key documents for women.
Women are facing violence from within their own homes, which should be a safe space. The recent killings of 
the women reflect on the inequalities that still exist despite the Fiji Constitution prescribing otherwise. Through 
social media, we have noted that there has been victim-blaming, justifications for violence/death and rumours and 
stereotypes being shared about domestic violence survivors and victims.

It is shocking that in some of these cases, women had already sought domestic violence restraining orders and were 
in the process of separation yet this did not save their lives. These women were seeking help from service providers 
and the Police. These women were doing everything right to protect themselves and their children.

Women are at most risk of violence and death, the moment they decide to leave an abusive relationship and this 
is when everyone’s support is crucial. We call on all communities to provide support to women who they know 
are experiencing violence. We call on the duty bearers, especially our Police, to support and take women seriously 
when there are allegations of violence and abuse within homes. Women experiencing violent situations should not 
be made to feel ashamed, threatened or harmed when they are trying to leave abusive relationships.

The NGOCHR reiterates that we as a society must not blame the victims for the violence they experience and 
perpetrators must be held accountable for their actions. We must all work together and ensure that there’s no more 
violence and no more deaths!

NGOCHR Condemns Violence against Women

Press Release: 25 November, 2019
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On behalf of the Non-Governmental Organisation Coalition for Human Rights (NGOCHR), the Citizens’ 
Constitutional Forum (CCF) presented a collective cash contribution to Mr. Seru Serevi in support of a West 
Papua solidarity initiative. The NGOCHR were presented with the opportunity to contribute towards studio costs 
for the recording of the song titled “Rise Morning Star”. The song calls for the freedom of our brothers and sisters 
in West Papua and acknowledges the continued fight for Self – Determination.

Seru Serevi told the Fiji Times:“It 
was not until when I travelled to 
Vanuatu last October with Jim 
Ratusila I met a daughter of one 
of the band members, when she 
told me about her father’s death, 
I decided there and then to com-
pose this song.” 
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At the end of each year in December, the team at the 
Citizens’ Consitutional Forum (CCF) has a week of 
planning and reflection. 

Reflecting on the work that was done through of the year 
is a fantastic way for the team to develope knowledge 
because it gives breathing space to stand back, assess a 
situation and identify what they have done well and how 
processes can be tweaked to do things better should a 
simliar situation arise in the future.

This process is critical for all team members as they get to 
impart or recieve feedback from each other, and generate 
knowlegde of the deliverables of project teams.

It allows managing a situation and reflecting on it 
afterwards which can give powerful insights about 
how to make improvement both personally and 
professionally and gain experience.

Not only can reflective practice improve team knowledge, 
skills and practice but it can also improve the quality of 
service provided by your entire organisation as part of 
continuous development.

The CCF ended the planning activity team had a retreat 
and team bonding at the Fijian Resort.

Lusia Lagilevu joined CCF as the Policy and Research 
Officer in January 2018. She started her new role as 
Programmes Manager in late December 2019. 

Prior to joining CCF she was in private practice 
working as a barrister and solicitor in Suva dealing 
with civil, family, criminal and commercial law. 

Lusia was admitted to the Fiji Bar in 2015 and 
graduated from the University of South Pacific in 2014 
with a Bachelor of Law and Bachelor of Arts majoring 
in Journalism. 

Team Planning and Retreat

Lusia Lagilevu Appointed as Program Manager
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NGOCHR: Human Rights Day March Cancelled!
Press Release
06/12/19

The NGO Coalition for Human Rights has cancelled the Human Rights Day March scheduled for 10 December 
2019 in Suva. The Human Rights Day March has been an annual event celebrating the adoption of the Universal 
Declaration of Human Rights (UDHR) by the United Nations General Assembly in 1948.

“In light of the measles outbreak in Fiji with 18 confirmed cases, we will adhere to the advisory from the Ministry 
of Health and Medical Services to not hold any large gathering as it would put others at risk,” said NGOCHR Chair, 
Nalini Singh.

“We respect everyone’s right to health and would request others to do the same. We call on the members of the 
public to follow preventative measures such as getting immunized and seeking medical attention if required,” she 
added.

The Coalition calls for strict adherence to the advisory by the Ministry of Health and Medical services by everyone. 
We urge everyone to uphold the right to health in combatting the measles outbreak. We also wish to acknowledge 
the hard work being put forward by medical personnel in facilitating the preventative measures. The Coalition will 
have alternate plans for the day and we urge the members of the public to keep an eye on our social media as to 
how they can join the commemoration for Human Rights Day.

ENDS.

NGOCHR: Everybody can be a Human Rights Defender.
Press Release
10/12/19

This World Human Rights Day, the NGOCHR calls for solidarity and action to protect and promote human rights 
in Fiji.
Human Rights Day is observed around the world annually on 10 December to mark the anniversary of the day the 
UN General Assembly adopted the Universal Declaration on Human Rights (UDHR) in 1948.

NGOCHR strongly believes that despite UDHR being adopted 71 years ago, a lot needs to be done in order to 
meaningfully translate the international commitment into a reality for Fiji.

“This year alone, we have experienced a multitude of human rights and fundamental freedoms violations. These 
cases include the termination of employment of the WAF workers and the subsequent arrest and harassment of 
WAF workers and trade unionists, homophobic statements made by the Prime Minister on same sex marriage, 
the continuous rejection of march permits applied by the Fiji Trade Union Congress for worker’s rights, the 
intimidation of civil society over their support for West Papua’s independence struggle, the continued high rates 
of violence against women and the alleged torture of a 16 year old child,” said the Chair of the NGO Coalition on 
Human Rights in Fiji, Ms. Nalini Singh.

Ms. Singh further stated that the Coalition is deeply concerned by the ongoing cyber bullying and the threats of 
violence against individuals who speak out on human rights violations and the lack of action taken by the relevant 
authorities in curbing the issue. Most recently, Virisila Buadromo who appeared on “QandA Pacific” received 
backlash and threats of violence for simply highlighting the ongoing human rights violations in Fiji.
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“Human Rights violations should not have a place in a truly democratic country. We are beginning to see 
members of the public come out strongly to defend human rights and we urge others to do the same. It is not 
only the responsibility of civil society organisations to defend human rights and fundamental freedoms, it is the 
responsibility of everybody to defend and claim our human rights. We all deserve to live in a peaceful country 
and this means that each one of us needs to become a human rights defender. We need to denounce and remove 
violence from our lives. We need to hold ourselves to the highest standards as citizens of Fiji and for this we must 
come together- not just on 10 December- but everyday.” Said Ms. Singh.

The Chair further stated that the NGO Coalition on Human Rights marked Human Rights Day with an annual 
march on December 10 since 1997 but this year unfortunately due to the measles outbreak the March was cancelled. 
The NGOCHR organised a virtual rally which will be live streamed on social media and welcome the public to join 
the conversation with the hashtag #HRDFiji.

END

The Citizens’ Constitutional Forum (CCF) joined the NGO Coalition in a Virtual Rally that was held at the Fiji 
Women Rights Movement office in Suva.

The activity had representatives from the civil society organisations being the voice, through a broadcast that was 
streamed online, for those who have either suffered some form of inhuman treatment and individuals who had 
their fundamental rights suppressed.

As we head into the festive season, the CCF urges that we respect the rule of law and the rights of our fellow Fijians.

Human Rights Day - Virtual March
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In December flag raising ceremony for West Papua 
was held at the Fiji Women’s Crisis Centre (FWCC) in 
Suva. We remember the people of West Papua in their 
struggle for self-determination.

The Citizens’ Constitutional Forum denounces all 
forms of voilence against the people of West Papua and 
calls on citizens of the globe to respect the rights and 
dignity of all.

 We are reminded that human rights have a number of 
distinct characteristics, which differentiate them from 
other rights provided for by national legislation. In 
particular:

•  Human rights are universal whatever our 
nationality, place of residence, sex, national or ethnic 
origin, colour, religion,language, or other status, and 
regardless of our country’s political, legal, economic, or 
cultural systems. We are allequally entitled to human 
rights without discrimination.

•  Human rights are inherent and inalienable. 
Every person is born with and has human rights and 
those rights cannotbe taken away, except in very specific 
situations and following due process. For example, the 
right to liberty may berestricted if a person is found 
guilty of a crime by a court of law.
•  All human rights are indivisible and 

interdependent, whether they are civil and political 
rights, such as the right to
life, equality before the law and freedom of expression; 
economic, social and cultural rights, such as the right to 
work, and to social security and education, or collective 
rights, such as the rights to development and self-
determination.
There is no hierarchy among human rights. All human 
rights are equally important; the improvement of one 
right facilitates advancement of the others and the 
deprivation of one right adversely affects the others. For 
example, it is
meaningless to talk about the right to take part in one’s 
country’s public affairs for a person who goes hungry; 
a child
is equally unable to realize the right to education if he 
or she is not at the same time protected from violence.

•  Non-discrimination is a cross-cutting principle 
in international human rights law and is present in all 
the major
human rights documents. Non-discrimination applies 
to everyone in relation to all human rights and freedoms 
and
it prohibits discrimination on the basis of sex, race, 
descent, religion, language, political or other opinion, 
colour,
nationality, social origin, property, disability, age, 
marital status, birth or other status.

WEST PAPUA FLAG RAISING
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Youth Chat Group 
16 Days of Activism Against Gender Based Violence

CCF hosted a Youth Chat Group where youth from civil society organisations can come and share what their 
organisations are doing during the 16 days of activism against gender based violence. Our guests had the chance to 
share some of their experiences that relate to this issue and their views as to how we can curb this gender based violence.

This platform provided an opportunity for viewers during the Live broadcast to comment and share their views 
also.

In observing 16 days of activism against gender based violence, CCF is inviting representatives from Men 
Empowerment Network (MEN) and Pacific Disability Forum (PDF) to enlighten our audience about the 
importance of creating dialogue pertaining to gender based violence.

The representative from MEN will highlight how his organisation has taken responsibility of making young men 
realize that they play a crucial role – as fathers, brothers, husbands and public advocates – in speaking out against 
gender based violence.

A representative from the Pacific Disability Forum will highlight that persons living with disabilities are also 
vulnerable to gender based violence. 

The chat group also included representatives from Ignite for Change represented what their organisation was 
doing in the build-up to Human Rights Day on the 10th of December.

Segment 1

Segment 2

TOP AUDIENCE: Men between 25yrs to 34yrs

TOTAL REACH: 968 views

VIEWERS: 62% men and 38% women

POST ENGAGEMENT: 91

TOP AUDIENCE: Women between 25yrs to 34yrs

TOTAL REACH: 432 views

VIEWERS: 26% men and 73% women

POST ENGAGEMENT: 98
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Pacific House 
Level 7 
1 Butt Street Suva Fiji 
PO Box 1359 Suva Fiji 

 Tel: +679 331 4166 
Fax: +679 330 0612 
ey.com 

 

AUDITOR'S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION TO THE DIRECTORS OF CITIZENS' CONSTITUTIONAL 
FORUM PTE LIMITED 
 
 
As lead auditor for the audit of Citizens' Constitutional Forum Pte Limited for the financial year ended 31 
December 2019, I declare to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been: 
 
(a) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Companies Act 2015 in relation to 

the audit; and 
 
(b) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

 
This declaration is in respect of Citizens' Constitutional Forum Pte Limited. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Ernst & Young 
Chartered Accountants 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Sikeli Tuinamuana 
Partner  
Suva, Fiji 
 
19 August 2020 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 
 
To the Members of Citizens' Constitutional Forum Pte Limited 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the financial statements of Citizens' Constitutional Forum Pte Limited (the Company), which 
comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019, the related statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income, the statement of changes in members' funds and the statement of cash flows 
for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 
policies. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the 
Company as at 31 December 2019, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting standards (IFRS). 
 
 
Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the International Ethics Standards 
Board for Accountant’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together with the ethical 
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Fiji and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
 
Other Information 
 
The Directors and management are responsible for the other information.  The other information comprises of 
the Directors' Report on page 2 but does not include the financial statements and the auditor’s report thereon. 
 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form 
of assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained during the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated.  If, based upon the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of 
this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT continued 
 
Emphasis of Matter 
 
We draw attention to Note 18 of the financial statements which notes the World Health Organisation’s 
declaration of the outbreak of COVID-19 as a global pandemic subsequent to 31 December 2019 and how this 
has been considered by the Directors in the preparation of the financial statements. As set out in Note 18, no 
adjustments have been made to financial statements as at 31 December 2019 for the impacts of COVID-19. Our 
opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 
 
 
Responsibilities of the management and those charged with governance for the Financial Statements 
 
The Directors and management are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with IFRS and for such internal control as the Directors and management determine 
is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, the Directors and management are responsible for assessing the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern 
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors and management either intend to liquidate 
the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process. 
 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud and error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT continued 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements continued 
 
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 

or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 

are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. 

 
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 

and related disclosures made by the Directors and management. 
 
• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors and management's use of the going concern basis of 

accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to 
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures, are inadequate, to 
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a 
going concern. 

 
• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit. 
 
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that 
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT continued 
 
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the 
Companies Act 2015 in all material respects, and; 

 
(a) we have been given all information, explanations and assistance necessary for the conduct of the audit; 

and 
 
(b) the Company has kept financial records sufficient to enable the financial statements to be prepared and 

audited. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Ernst & Young 
Chartered Accountants 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Sikeli Tuinamuana 
Partner  
Suva, Fiji 
 
19 August 2020 
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